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« Board Hearing held April 30 to May 2, 2015 >

fraudulent nature.

MR. BAUER: It's more than that. It's more than
an actual traffic violation.

MR. WILLIAMS: Well, just so Mr. Bauer knows, he
refers to it in his proposed exhibits to us as Exhibit 244
and 244-A, so we're all on the same page in terms of what
the -- what we're talking about, in terms of —-

MR. JOHN BAUER: I can't hear him.

MR. WILLIAMS: In terms of what the offense is.

CHAIRMAN EVANS: Mr. Williams said that this
refers, he believes, to documents 244 and 244-A.

MR. WILLIAMS: Correct. Yes.

CHAIRMAN EVANS: Is that correct, Mr. Williams?

MR. WILLIAMS: Correct. In Mr. Bauer's éroposed
exhibits, it's 244 and 244-A.

CHAIRMAN EVANS: And I guess the question thét we
have is, are those the documents you're talking about, Mr.
Bauer? . |

MR. BAUER: I believe so. I can omit those.
That will —- that will be fine. .

CHAIRMAN EVANS: Okay.

MR. BAUER: I'll be willing to omit them.

CHAIRMAN EVANS: Thank you. That will --

MR. BAUER: Okay.

CHAIRMAN EVANS: That will save us from making a

. Bettye Anderson & Associates
Opening ' Beaufort, South Carolina
Preliminary Motion (843)525-0791 (800)543-5506 Page 18 of 587
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< Board Hearing held April 30 to May 2, 2015 »

ruling on it.

MR. WILLIAMS: And just so we're clear, wevwould
omit the documents, as well as any reference to theb
substance cont;ined in the documents?

CHAIRMAN EVANS: That's it, as we understand it,
and if it comes up, then I will —-- I will rule it as
inadmissible at that time, because I think we have an
agreement now that the document is -- is taken out of any
discussion or evidence. v

MR, WILLIAMS: Thank you.

MR. DUFF: Mr. Bauer, do you understand that;
that since the document has been excluded, any testimony
related to the document also cannot —- any questioning can
also not be asked?

MR. BAUER: I understand. Yes, sir.

MR. DUFF: Okay.

CHAIRMAN EVANS: Are there any 6ther motions,
pre-hearing motioné, that anyone would like to make, either
of the parties?

MR.. WILLIAMS: None from the administration.

CHAIRMAN EVANS: Okay. Thank you, Mr. Williams.
Mr. Bauer, anything?

MR. BAUER: No. No, sir.

CHAIRMAN EVANS: Oka?: If that is the case,

then, we will start with opéning statements and go with the

Bettye Anderson & Associates
Opening Beaufort, South Carolina
Preliminary Motion (843)525-0791  (800)543-5506 Page 19 of 587
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< Board Hearing held April 30 to May 2, 2015 »

.she looked out her window and to speak with him about what
happened, she guickly realized that it would have been
impossible for Mr. Bauer to monitor the second—-grade class
when they were at stations both inside and outside the gym
and on the opposite side of the.gym, on the other side of a
wall.

You will also learn of Ms. Brockway's concern
with Mr. Bauer's attitude and with his violation of school
policy by leaving the extérior doors to the gym open —--
which, as you well know, is a safety concern -- and his
failure to supervise all of the children in his class;
again, a violation of district policy.

Next you will hear from Cy Clendaniel, another
assistant'principal, and he will testify as to his
interactions with Mr. Bauer in February 2014, and he has

continued concerns with Mr. Bauer's attitude, with hié poor

Jjudgment, and failure to supervise properly.

Mr. Clendaniel will share with the Board about
the complaint of some parents regarding their third-grade
child, along with some his classmates, being exposed to an
unclothed, male adult while changing clothes after swimming
class. Not only Qere the parents upset about the incident,
but they expressed_great concern about what they described
as Mr. Bauer's flippant attitude when the mother reported

the concerns.

Bettye Anderson & Associates
Opening Statement Beaufort, South Carolina v :
by Fawley _ (843)525-0791 (800)543-5506 Page 22 of 587
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+ Board Hearing held April 30 to May 2, 2015 »

You will also hear from this principal as to her
dismay and her shock at the manner in which Mr. Bauer
reacted to both Ms. Walton's and her concerns. He
continued to exéress that the administration was making too
big a deal of him leaving a child at an off-campus
facility.

Next, Ms. Walton will testify as to her direct
interactions with Mr. Bauer and her grave concern with his
poor judgment and confusion about the expectation of the
district administration. Unfortunately, as Msl Bauer (sici
continued to interact with Mr. Bauer -—- as Ms. Walton
continued to interact with Mr. Bauer, he became
increasingly disrespectful and insubordinate. Despite
numerous efforts to have Mr. Bauer provide a second medical
opinion regarding his fitness for teaching, not only did he
refuse to cooperate, but he refused on multiple occasions
to come in and meet with Ms. Walton.

Ms. Walton will describe how this personnel
matter came to the attention of the superintendent, Jeff
Moss, and despite Jeff Moss's direct attempts to make
certain Mr. Bauer understood that he expects teachers to
adhere to the reasonable instructions of their supervisors
which were in accord with district policy -- Mr. Bauer was
to submit the second medical opinion, he was to meet with

Ms. Walton -- Mr. Bauer refused.

Bettye Anderson & Associates
Opening Satement Beaufort, South Carolina
by Fawley (843)525-0791 (800)543-5506 Page 24 of 587
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+ Board Hearing held April 30 to May 2,2015 »

In the end, would you have expressed concern for
the event and told the teacher that, due to his 17 years of

excellent service in the profession and 12 years of

‘exemplary service to Hilton Head Island Elementary, you

would give him a warﬁing and return him to class? Would
you consider exploring the policy and how it may have
contributed to the event? Was the administrative reaction
a group—think, an overreaction? I thought it was an
overreaction.

Evidence of overreaction. Do you remember the
fourth grader at Hilton Head Island Elementary who was
suspended for having a broken pencil -sharpener that made
national news —- and this was at Hilton Head Island
Elementary —-- or in North Carolina in 2010, under Dr. Moss,
when a young, intelligent soccer star lost her senior year
because she picked up her father's matching lunch satchel
that had a paring knife in it?

I will ask if I was targeted, with reasons for
thinking I was targeted. If targeted, why? Due to long
service, credentials, et cetera, my salary could hire two
first-year PE teachers, according to Beaufort salary
schedules. But why spend hundreds of thouéands of dollars
on lawyers to save thousands from one salary? I will
provide evidence that Hilton Head Island Elementary will

combine classes to illegal sizes to avoid using

Bettye Anderson & Associates
Opcning Statement Beaufort, South Carolina
by Bauer (843)525-0791  (800)543-5506 Page 32 of 587
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< Board Hearing held April 30 to May 2, 2015 »

substitutes. 1Is that to save money, I wonder.

One explanation that will be offered is that
salaries and legal fees in some districts are seéarate
budgets. The attorneys' budget in some places come from an
insured tfust fund, so no cap. Should that bevpublic
knowledge? fé explore the possibility, I will —-— that I
could show you separate funds, I got the budgets from
Richland County School District II and Beaufort County. I
used Richland II because that is where I went to school.
Richland II has more schools, a smaller budget, spends less
per student, has more student —— and has more students on
the assisted lunch program. The Richland.II budget is six
pages for 26,000 students, and ﬁhe Beapfort budget -- by
the way, here they are —— just hold up —— this is Beaufort.
This is Richland TI. Six pages, 168 pages. And that's
Ricland II, six pages for 26,000; Beaufort, 168 pages for a
hundred an -—- I'm sorry, 21,000 students.

I was stunned when I read in their evidence
notebook, Dr. Fawley and Mr. Williams' evidence notebook,
that they intend to show that I had not taken the pool
event seriously, and I think I understand why they thought
I did not take it seriously. You will see that, after 17
vears, I had left a child, and I felt like a storm cloud
surrounded me. I could not comprehend-it. The documents

will show that I was looking for support, but did not get

_ Bettye Anderson & Associates
Opening Statement Beaufort, South Carolina
by Bauer (843)525-0791 (800)543-5506 Page 33 of 587
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it, and I tried to defend myself. That is true. As you
will see, they accused me of being defensive, and I was
defensive. The tension made —- I'm sorry.

They also wrote that I was slouched in the chair
when I was speaking with them. That is not a normal
reaction for someone who feels remorse. They thought and
wrote that I‘was unremorseful. The truth is, I had éxtreme
remorse. I admitted my wrongdoing. I had left a student

behind. And that was not on purpose. As you will see,.

they'll call it willful.

I'd like the Board to consider five things here.

‘There are really only five things for the Board to

consider: the. four charges against me, and due process.

Charge number one, the first charge, was
negligence. A child was left behind. I was responsible
for that, and it bothered me a lot. It bothered me a lot.
Can one event be called persistent? Section 430 of the
Teacher Employmentiand Dismissal Act specifies persistent -
negligence. For charge one, I can only pray for
forgiveness and plead that it was an isolated event.

The second charge was in;dbordinafion during the
pool event. Mr. Clendaniel, who wrote the pool
documentation, testified that there was no insubordination.
Those first two charges are what thrust this case forward.

I will show that, if you decide those two charges were not

Bettye Anderson & Associates
Opening Statement Beaufort, South Carolina .
by Bauer (843)525-0791 (800)543-5506 Page 34 of 587
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« Board Hearifig held April 30 to May 2, 2015 »

1 regarding November 1.

2 MR. WILLIAMS: And, again, I would object to
3 him testifying at this étage of the proceeding. He

4 has a witness who he has been cross—examining. He can
5 certainly ask her questions, but it would be

G inappropriate for ﬁim to testify.

7 CHAIkMAN EVANS: And as I said, I.think,

E before, Mr. Bauer, that is -- I think that's very

9 appropriate for when you present your own testimony or
19 during your summation, but I would like you to direct
i1 your questions to the witness and move forward here.
1z MR. BAUER: I believe that I am entitled to
13 the Teacher Employment>and Dismissal Act due process
i4 of law, written charges from the Board, which I have
15 not received, and I move to motion for a dismissal and
16 striken from the record Ms. Brockway's testimony.

17 MR. WILLIAMS: Again, I'd --

18 CHAIRMAN EVANS: You have an objection, Mr.
719 Williams?

20 MR. WILLIAMS% Yeah, I would object to his,
21 again, testifying and mékihg that motion at this stage
22 of the proceeding. He's got a witness. He's started
23 " her cross—examination. It was my ﬁnderstanding we

24 took a break for him to get her sealed transcript

25 deposition. .

Bettye Anderson & Associates
Witness: Brockway Beaufort, South Carolina
Cross by Bauer (843)525-0791 (800)543-5506 Page 92 of 587
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MR. BAUER: .Yes.
MR. WILLIAMS: I would ask that we reconvene,
from that point.
MR. BAUER: Okay. ©Now, I want to —-
CHATRMAN EVANS: Would you hold on just a
minute, please?
MR. BAUER: Yes.
(Board discussion.)
CHAIRMAN EVANS: I think, after -- I want to
go back to the motion you just made, Mr. Bauer, and
after discussing it with Mr. Dﬁff, we're éoing to set
it aside right nowl
MR. BAUER: Okay.
CHAIRMAN EVANS: We think there mighﬁ be an '
appropriate time for you to bring this up later; okay?
MR. BAUER: Yes, sir. ‘
CHATRMAN EVANS: But let's proceed with your
cross—examination of_Ms. Brockway, please.
BY MR. BAUER:

Q Ms. Brockway, I believe I asked you earlier if
you knew what a rest wall was. Ppid I ask —- is a rest wall
—= did I ask you if it was an assigned place? I can't even

remember. Do you know anything about a rest wall?

A I'm sorry. Can you clarify what you're asking
me? -
Bettye Anderson & Associates
‘Witness: Brockway Beaufort, South Carolina

Cross by Bauer (843)525-0791 (800)543-5506 Page 93 of 587
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< Board Hearing held April 30 to May 2, 2015 »

foremost, I'm an instructional leader. I also hold the
title of test coordinator for the building. I'm also in
charge of our immersion program there, the Chinese and

Spanish immersion program.

Q And do you know Mr. Alden Bauer?
A Yes, I do.
Q And how. did you come to know Mr. Bauer?

A I came to know Mr. Bauer when I was first
employed in the summer of 2010.

Q If yoﬁ mét‘Mr. Bauer when you were initially
employed as an administrator at Hilton Head Island
Elementary, then you've known Mr. Bauer for about four and
a half years; is that right?

A That's correct.

Q During the 2010-11 school year, your first at the
school, what was your opinion of Mr. Bauer as a teacher?

A Well, he was a good teacher. He seemed to love
what he did, love children. V

Q And did you have any supervisory concerns about
Mr. Bauer in the 2010-11 school year?

A No, ma'am, no concerns.

Q How about in '11-12? Any changes -— any changes
from your initial impressions of Mr. Bauer as a teacher?

A No changes. We did have a.couple of student

injuries that took place that year, and I do remember one

Bettye Anderson & Associates
Witaess: Clendaniel Beaufort, South Carolina
Direct by Fawley - (843)525-0791 (800)543-5506 Page 126 of 587
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< Board Hearing held April 30 to May 2, 2015 »

THE WITNESS: This is a question for me?

CHAIRMAN EVANS: Yes.

THE WITNESS: Okay. I'm sorry.

MR. RIVERS: Yes, ma'am. The letter that you
were talking about that was dated December 10th that was
supposed to be --

THE WITNESS: 201372

MR. RIVERS: Yes, ma'am. I was just curious. Do
you use scanners at -- I guess my question would be, why
wouldn't be on letterhead from you?

THE WITNESS: I -- you know, there are many
documents in this notebook that are not on letterhead. I
don't know if this is the original form. I don't know if
it's been scanned. This particular éopy; I don't know.

MR. RIVERS: Okay. I was just curious, because
~— with the letterhead, because without the létterhead,
anyone could -- anyone could write it, or it could be post
-— post -- I mean, it could be written --

THE WITNESS: Righ_t .

MR. RIVERS: -~ after the time it says it's
written, and I was just curious.

THE WITNESS: Right. I understand.

MR. RIVERS: It's curious.

MR. BAUER: I'm sorry. Was he referring to the

December 10th -- which -- yes.

: Bettye Anderson & Associates
Witness: McAden Beaufort, South Carolina . ’
Exam by the Board (843)525-0791 (800)543-5506 © Page 262 of 587
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CHATRMAN EVANS: December 10, 2013.

MR. RIVERS: It has a signature, but I was used
to seeing them with the letterhead from the principal, or
something, just to authenticate where it came from.

THE WITNESS: Um-hum. Um-hum.

MR. RIVERS: Okay. Thank YOu.

CHATRMAN EVANS: Ms. Anderson?

MS. ANDERSON: I just had a question with regard
to the medical document and how —— how are the medical
documents updated, and whose responsibility is it to
provide that packet to the teachers, or is it the teachers'
responsibility to make their own medical packets?

THE WITNESS: It is not the teachers'
responsibility to make their own medical packets. Our
school nurse typically makes all medical packets. This
particular student, who we cannot name, the parent of this
particular student works aﬁ our school, and the parents --
plural -- like to get together with all the specialists who
see their child to update‘on any changes with the child’'s
diagnosis or treatmeﬁt plan.

The reason that they had a photograph of their
daughter on the front -- their child on the front page is
so, in the event that a substitute is in the building, they
did want substitute teachers to know of that child's

condition and diagnosis and how to handle it. Does that

Bettye Anderson & Associates
‘Witness: McAden Beaufort, South Carolina
Exam by the Board (843)525-0791 (800)543-5506 Page 263 of 587
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resolve any objection from our motion. Okay? Everybody
kind of understand the ground rules here?

MR. WILLIAMS: .That's fair. And just in the
interest of efficiency, I can tell you that; for the most
part, even if I object, if.Ms. Walton gives a verbal
response, I'm really not that concerned -about the answer
that she gave in terms of —- in terms of the Board seeing
whatever her answer was.

It's more, if there are décuments that she's
cross—examined on that I object to on the basis of
relevance, I'd want a ruling on the admissibility of the

document, not so much whatever verbal response she gave, if

that helps.

CHAIRMAN EVANS: Mr. Bauer, do you have anything
you want to bring ub in regards to this testimony that
we;re about to get?

MR. BAUER: No, sir, I don't. I don't believe
so.

éHAIRMAN EVANS: Okay. Thank you, and let's get
Ms. Cushingberry to start the video.

(VIDEO testimony begins.

,WHEREUPON, ALICE WALTON, having been first duly
sworn, was examined and testified as follows:)
MR. WILLIAMS: 1In light of Mr. Bauer's

statement regarding his desire to place an objection

Bettye Anderson & Associates
Beaufort, South Carolina
Witness: Walton (843)525-0791 (800)543-5506 . Page 266 of 587
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1 A I don't remember if I were or not.

2 Q Does policy trump law?

3 A No.

4 Q Does the law say that a teacher cannot be

5 terminated without a hearing?

6 MR. WILLIAMS: Again, to the extent you're

7 asking for a legal conclusion, I'd have the same

8 objection I previously made.

9 BY MR. BAUER:

10 0 You can answer.

i1 A And &our question was?

12 Q Does the law say that a teacher cannot be

13 terminated without a hearing?

14 ‘A I specifically can't answer yes or no to that.
15 Q Okay. You were asked on February 5th, 2015, if
.16 Mr. Bauer was terminated by the Board withoﬁt‘a hearing,
17 anq your answer is -- was, "That is correct." Now, please
18 see file 59. That's -- .

9 MR. WILLIAMS: Is this the exhibit?

20 MR. BAUER: Yes, 59 —— oh, yeah. I'm sorry.
21 This is a different exhibit coming up.

22 MR. WILLIAMS: .Are you offering.it as an

23 exhibit?

24 MR. BAUER: Yes. Here we go. It's —-

25 " sorry. I keep handing it over here. Okay.

BeuyezhmhnsonéEAs&meBs
Witness: Walton _ Beaufort, South Carolina
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(VIDEQ testimony resumes.)
BY MR. BAUER:

Q I'm sorry. It's actually page 6. It would be
the second page, but it's page 6. All right. We'll come
back to that. I'm sorry. I'm a little mixed up here.

All right. I think we'll need to come back to
this. I'm going to skip over -- now, the so-called charges
were sent‘in an email from Dr. Moss, in prose form, af
least four days prematurely. That's four days before the
deadline of June the 2nd for Mr. Bauer to comply with your
digectives. Is that correct?

A I'm not ~—~ I can't verify those dates.

Q Okay. And I know I asked you this previously,
but do you believe that an email is appropriate in
seriousness for the ending of a career? v

MR. WILLIAMS: As you aéknowledged, i'd
object on the basis that the question has been asked
and answered.

BY MR. BAUER:

Q By law, do the charges come from the school
boafd?

MR.. WILLIAM: 1I'd object to the extent
you're asking her for a legal conclusion or a legal
opinion, but you may answer if you know.

THE WITNESS: The charges, in my opinion,

Bettye Anderson & Associates
‘Witness: Walton Beaufort, South Carolina
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tne case:

A Yes, leaving a child unattended off campus
brought me to the scene.

Q Without those two accusations, the case would
have never reached you; is that correct?

A It would have -- it wouldn't have been a case had
the student not been left off campus.

Q Are you aware that Mr. Clendaniel testified that

the charge of insubordination during the pool event was not

true?

A No, I'm not aware, because I wasn't at his
deposition.

Q Would you recommend to the Board that they drop

the pool insubordination charge?

MR. WILLIAMS: I object, and hore broadly
the objection is, although the term "insubordination"
has been used, it'é‘abbut more than the —- relates to
more than the pool incident.

BY MR. BAUER:

Q  Was the charge of neglect one count?

A I'm not so sure I can answer that. It was a
charge. .
0 How can one accident meet the requirements of the

employment and dismissal act, section 430, which states,

"Persistent neglect"?

’ Bettye Anderson & Associates
Witness: Walton Beaufort, South Carolina
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A I don't know. I don't remember.

Q All right. If you -~ okay. Let's see. Was
there a problem with, actually, delivery-or receiving this
evaluation, as far as ggtting it to you on time?

A A problem?

Q Yeah. Was there a delay, maybe technical
difficulties, gettingvthe evaluation?

A Well, it was é delay from the time that I

Tequested it until the time that I got it. What the issues

were, I'm not -- I couldn't specifically say.
Q Do you think the problem could have been at your
end, that you blamed me because —-- I'm sorry. Let me —-

I'11l let you finish. Do you think that the technical
problem could have been on the end of the school

district's?

A It's possible it could have been.
Q Okay. The fax number provided by human resources
-— and let me -- we need that file. Okay. 1I'll get it.

MR. WILLIAMS: It's here if you want it.

MR. BAUER: Okay.
MR. WILLIAMS: You're welcome to use them.
MR. BAUER: Yeah. I'1l1 go ~-

BY MR. BAUER:

Q The fax number provided by human resources was
833‘—— or 843-322—2371, but that number did not work. They
Bettye Anderson & Associates

Witness: Walton * Beaufort, South Carolina
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then sent me 843-322-2330, which'is Dr. Moss's fax. Why
would Dr. Moss not forward it to you?

MR. WILLIAMS: I'm going to object to the
extent you're testifyiné, and also to the extent
you're asking her about what someone else did or did
not do.

BY MR. BAUER:

Did you ever receive it from Dr. Moss?

I don't remember; I knéw I received it.

Also; when did you receive the handwritten copy?
I don't know.

Okay .

¥ 0 ¥ 0O » ©

It's always timé stamped when it comes to my
office.

Q Okay. Yeah. At my -— at my deposition, the
question from Dr. Fawley was, "I just want the handwritten .

note, " and the answer from me was, "I don't have that. Ms.

Walton would have it."™ And then the statement from Dr.

Fawley was, "All right. She doesn't have it. Okay." Do
you believe that Mr. Bauer, me, had made an effort to get

the evaluation to you, at least handwritten, at first?

A Do I believe that you made an effort to get --
Q Yes.

A I do believe you made an effort to get 1t to me.
Q Are you aware of why there_was}a delay at allv?

Bettye Anderson & Associates
Witness: Walton Beaufort, South Carolina
Cross by Bauer ' (843)525-0791 (800)543-5506 Page 386 of 587

227




« Board Hearing held April 30 to May 2, 2015 »

i A I don't remember.
2 MR. BAUER: Okay. All right. File, let's.
3 seé, 97. Thank you.
4 (WHEREUPON, a document was marked as
5 Defendant's Exhibit Number 15 for Identification to
6 the Walton Deposition.)
7 MR. BAUER: Here we go. There.
8 BY MR. BAUER: | '
Q Q And please identify file 97 —— I'm sorry I keep
10 calling it.my file -- third paragraph, first sentence.
i1 That Qould be, "Oh'March 5th, we met again with Ms.
iz McAden, " and dot, dot, dot. And let me remind you of what
13 you said before I give you the question. "Mr. Bauer did
i4 not come back. He did not even come back to even discuss
15 the improvement plan." The question from Ms. Martel is,
16 "Was he invited back?" And answer was, "Yes, he was,
17 several times." And you continued later, dot, dot, dot -—
18 or, I'm sorry, quote, dot, dot, dot, put down what you
39 think you can do to improve, and when we get back together,
20 we will discuss it. He never came back.
2% Since I had éent the plan to both you and Ms.
22 McAden in February, would March the 5th have been a good
23 time to discuss it?
24 A I don't know if it would have been or not. I
25 don't know what the circumstances were.
Bettye Anderson & Associates
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Q So can you tell me, why did you not discuss the
improvement plan 22 days after asking for 'it?
A Because it wasn't a -- you had not convinced me

that we needed to be talking about ——

Q Okay.
A -~ an improvement plan at that point.
Q When you make big mistakes like that -- okay.

Let me change this. All right. 1I'll get back to this.
Do:you believe that I was concerned that you would not
allow —-- actually, we're going to go back to file 49. I'm
sorry I'm jumping, but pléase refer to file 49.

MR. WILLIAMS: Okay.

MR. BAUER: I'm sorry.

MR. BAUER: You didn't -—— I was gbing’to
object to both questions you started to ask, But since
you didn't complete either question, I did not object.

BY MR. BAUER:

Q Please refer back to file -- not file 49. 1It's
file —-- Exhibit 13. I have to —— I'm not used to legal
jargon, and so on. Was I concerped, in your opinion, that
I would not —- that you would not allow me time to consult
with an attorney?

MR. WILLIAMS: I'm going to object to the
extent you ask her any question abou; what your state

of mind is or was.

Bettye Anderson & Associates
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o} Okav. I know vou've answered this in a number oF
different ways, but 1'd 1like to hear 1T again. wouia wuo
response, no response from you to my professional
_EmTovement pian, De a warning sidnal to me that possibiy

the Teacher Employment and Dismissal Act requires a

-~

respon

MR. WILLIAMS: Objectioﬁ on several bases.
You're ésking what you would have -- what signal you
would have received.

MR. BAUER: Uh-~huh.

MR. WILLIAMS: And also asking for legal
conclusions, and also stating -

MR. BAUER: That is —-

MR. WILLIAMS: -- facts not in evidence.

MR. BAUER: Okay. And my response to that
would be, I would assume that the head of the human
resources would know all of the legal aspects of the
Teacher Employment and Dismissal Act, as well,

BY MR. BAUER:

Q But, basically, would né response to a
profeésional improvement plan be a warning signal to me,
since the employment and dismissal act requires a‘response?

MR. WILLIAMS: Same objection.

MR. BAUER: Okay. You can answer if you

wish.
Bettye Anderson & Associates
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THE WITNESS: So it's all right for me to
answer?
MR. WILLIAMS: If you can.

BY MR. BAUER:

Q If you can. If you can.
A No, I really can't answer that, but I can tell
you what my opinion is. It was not -- we weren't dealing

with an empioyment dismissal 'act. We were dealing with an
employer-employee action, to place an employee on a plan
for improvement.

Q I see.

A So we weren't dealing with anything but placing
you in a plan, and until we came to a conclusion as to what
that plan would look like, and implemented that plan,
officially, on the correct documehts, providing a
beginning, a middle, and an ending date for that plan, it
was not an official improvement plan.

Q I see. So you would feel no need to involve
attorneys as —-— you wouldn't submit this to an attorney
right when you received the improve plan?

MR. WILLIAMS: Objection to the relevance,

but you may answer. .

MR. BAUER: Well, okay. The relevance is,
she admitted this to Childs & Halligan on February

18th, two hours after it was delivered to her; And my

Bettye Anderson & Associates
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i question is, why did you feel the need to send it to
2 Connie P. Jackson at Childs & Halligan on February
3 18th? ' ' ‘
4 MR. WILLIAMS: And I'd object both to
3 relevance and that you'fe seeking attorney-client
& information, and this is a question I would advise you
7 not to answer.
A THE WITNESS: Okay.
9 BY MR. BAUER:
i ' Q All right. Now, this is from the employment'ahd
iz dismissal act, section 440, code of laws title 59, quote,
iz School administrator required to make a reasonable effort
i3 to assist teacher in corrective measures. Reasonable time
14 for improvement required. Is it possible that this whole
i5 situation of the school losing‘a good teacher, and a good
16 teacher losing his career, comes down to confusion between
37 the principal and the human resources officer not knowing
i8 who was supposed to respond to an improvement plan?
it MR. WILLIAMS: Objection on a number of
20 bases, including your testifying and assuming facts
21 not in evidence.
22 BY MR. BAUER:
23 Q Okay. Is it — 1'11 rephrase that, then. Is it
2% possible that there could have been confusion between the
25 principal and the human resources officer as to who was to
Bettye Anderson & Associates
Witness: Walton Beaufort, South Carolina
Cross by Bauer (843)525-0791 (800)543-5506 Page 424 of 587
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respond to the improvement plan?

A I can't answer that.

Q Okay. Now, seqtion —— do we have —-- yeah,
section 440 of the Teacher Employment and Dismissal Act
requires a reasonable timé for improvement, and I need file
42-A.

(WHEREUPON, a qocument was marked as
Defendant's Exhibit Number 18 for Identificafion to
the Walton Deposition.)

BY MR. BAUER:

Q All right. >Now, pleaSe refer to section 440, and
that would be on page nine of tﬁis document; section
59-25-440.

MR. WILLIAMS: You said page nine?

MR. BAUER: It is on mine. I think she's
got it. Yes.‘

THE WITNESS: He's got them, yeah.

MR. BAUER: Yours is different?

MR. WILLIAMS: I don't —— I have pages 1
through 5.

MR. BAUEﬁ:' Oops. Okay. I havé him -- all
right. Just find section 440. 1It's, I believe, on
that somewhere.

MR. WILLIA&S: I see section 440, but just

so I, at some point, have what you have, do you have

Bettye Anderson & Associates
‘Witness: Walton Beaufort, South Carolina
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an extra copy of the exhibit that the witness has?
MR. BAUER: Yeah, let me w%ite it.down.
Okay. Yes, we'll make sure we get it.
MR. WILLIAMS: May I look at it?
MR. BAUER: Yeah. Sure.- Okay.
MR. WILLIAMS: Hold on for a second.
MR. BAUER: Yeah. Sure.

BY MR. BAUER:

Q Would you pleasé read out loud section 440, Ms.
Walton?
A Written notice to teacher of possible dismissal?

Is ﬁhat what you're looking at?

Q Yes.

A School administrator required to make a
reasonable effort to assist teacher in corrective measures.
Reasonable time for improvement required.

Q Okay. That's -- all right. If Ms. McAden, in
her deposition, says thatvthe improvement plan was your
responsibility for a response, and you say that it was Ms.
McAden's responsibility for a response, and nobody
responded, could that be a problem?

A No. -

MR. WILLIAMS: I'd object to, again, stating

facts .that aren't in evidence, but you can respond if

you know.
i Bettye Anderson & Associates
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evidence relevant to the case. Your answer was yes. Now,
do you consider 13 months to be a delay in the process

after having received the emails on March 24th?

A My delay in the supreme court process?
Q I'm sorry. Do you consider that to be in the
early stages —- okay. Would you say that receiving emails

after 13 months would be a delay, based on the supreme
court ruling?

MR. WILLIAMS: I would object to the extent
you're asking her to interpret what is meant by a
supreme court rulingl

BY MR. BAUER:

Q Okay. Before the Board hears your testiﬁony,
they will be —-- have been informed about Shana Washington-
Middleton, whose case was reversed on the grounds of delay.
Did you testify that you could make my emails available to
me in three minutes at your deposition?

MR. WILLIAMS: Object to the extent you're
testifying abouf another casé. She can -- she
certaihly is free to answer any questions related to
testimony that she offered at her deposition. So to
the extent he asks you about providing --—

BY MR. BAUER: A
Q Did you -~ did you testify that you could make my

emails available to me in three minutes?

Bettye Anderson & Associates
Witness: Walton Beaufort, South Carolina
Cross by Bauner (843)525-0791 (800)543-5506 ) Page 438 of 587

235




+ Board Hearing held April 30 to May 2, 2015 ~

ok

L2V

Lt

o w

o

3

]

]
Rv1i

A .On August 3rd, you made an attempt.

Q August the 3rd.. That's' correct.

A After I made an -attempt on June 10th.

Q Now, I obviously tried to make an appointment,

but there was no response. Why was there no response to

this?
A I can't answer that, Mr. Bauer.
Q Okay.
A Did you ask me on August the 3rd that -~ to give

you access because you didn't get any response?

Q I'm basing this on your asking me to contact --
A Here again, when I offered that --

Q -- Ms. Lopatka.

A Okay. Here again, .when I offered you that option

in June to provide you access to your email —-—

Q " Um—hum. -

A -— I didn't hear -— or. I don't even -- this went
to Ms. Lopatka, not me. So the sense of urgency couldn't

have been too great.

Q So since -=-

A From June to Auéust -

Q So what you're ——

A -— 1is not any urgency.

Q -— saying is, since it didn't séem'ukgeﬁt, you

"wouldn't respond? Is that what you're saying?

Bettye Anderson & Associates
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I would -— I could say I was the lead. It was a team
effort." So what it éppears to me is, you're saying that
you —-- you're saying you're not the team leader, and Dr.
Moss is saying you are. If you were actually the team lead

investigator, why would you not have known that?

A Well, Mr. Bauer, as human resource officer —-
Q Uh-huh.
‘A -— in theory, I am the team leader in all

investigations, but I can't very well do a comprehensive
investigation without the schoo;—level administration. So,
therefore, it is a team effort. They're on site. They
deal with the staff, and in this instance, they dealt with

you. I did not. So that's why it was a collaborative

effort.

Qo Okdy. Right. Yeah. All right. Now we'll go on
to the pool. During the several depositions -— I'm sorry,
during -- yeah, we asked all of the investigators what they

investigated. So, all of the people that were involved in
a deposition, Ms. Martel asked them what they investigated,
and you will remember, probably, most of these questions, I
think. Number éﬁe was, was there a child who did not
return with his class from the poél‘on February 5th, 201472
That's —— that's my question. Was there a child who did

not return to his class from the pool on February 5th,

20142
Bettye Anderson & Associates
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MR. WILLIAMS: Again, to the extent you're

testifying, you can ask her what she knows, but I

would object to any testimony you're offering.
BY MR. BAUER:

Q If no one can answer these questions, was it a
good investigation? If none of the investigators could ask
—-— or answer these questions, was it a good investigation?

A I think you're.asking me to answer a question
based on someone else's actions.

Q Okay. All right. At the deposition of Ms.
McAden in December, she referred to me as an excellent
teacher,‘a good coach, an excellent mentor, and that I was
liked by the children. You, Ms. Walton, testified that I
had an excellent reputation. Others called me courteous:.. -
and quick to volunteer. On -— and this is the lead up.
Would ydu agree —— I'm sorry. Where's the question?

MR. WILLIAMS: That's what I was thinking.
BY MR. BAUER:

(0] I'm sorry. It's like, where's the question? I
forgot what the guestion was. I didn't write it down.

I'll get back to this. My apologies. It's‘getting to be a

late, long day. On Februéry 5th, 2015, were you asked what

happens if a teacher becomes sick at school? And this Qas
; .

at your deposition.

A I don't remember being asked that question.

Bettye Anderson & Associates
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A The district has approximately 1,500 certified
staff and another 800 support staff.

Q If legal documents arrive at district offices,
are you set up -- is the school district set up.to deal
with them efficiently?

MR. WILLIAMS: I object on relevance, but if
you know, you can answer.
BY MR. BAUER:

Q Okay. This is dealing with FOIA, F-O-I-A. Is

the school district efficient in dealing with FOIA

documents, in your opinion, I guess?

A :In my opinion, yes.
Q Okay. If legal documents arrive for both the
district administration and the school board -- all right.

I'm going to skip that. Did I submit three legal documents
that were designed by counsel and submitted properly pro
se? 1 was pro se. -

MR. WILLIAMS: I'd object to the extent
you're asking her about whether or not something you
submitted was designed by counsel or —-- yeah, or
legal.

BY MR. BAUER:
Q This was --— alliright.. Let's start .with FOIA, a
FOIA request. Was a FOIA request submitted to the school

district by John Alden Bauer, III, on June 18th, 20142

Bettye Anderson & Associates
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A I couldn't affirm that.

0 Okay. Now, in .your deposition, did you say that
a FOIA request would go to Jennifer Staton, Dr. Moss, and
the attorneys?

A Yes.

Q And since Dr. Moss said that the FOIA requesf,i
quote, would have gone thiough Jennifer Staton, can we

assume that Jennifer Staton handled it?

A You can assume that. She does handle FOTIA
requests.
Q Excellent. Alliright. Are you aware that the

law requires some sort of response within 15 days and that
failure to do is a misdeméanor? This is file -- do you
want these files?
MR. WILLIAMS: Object to the form, but you
can answer if you know.
THE WITNESS: ©No, I can't reply to 15 days.
BY MR. BAUER:

Q Okay. If Ms. Staton testified on March 26th,
2015, that she never saw the FOIA request, what -- I'm
trying to think of a way to ask this. Ms. Staton testified
on March 26th, 2015, that ‘she never saw the fOIA request.

Do you believe that is true?

A I can't answer for Ms. Staton.
Q Okay. By June, I had asked for my emails for
Bettye Anderson & Associates
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four months, and then came a FOIA request, and then another
nine months. Did you testify that you could get these

emails to Mr. Bauer in three months? I realized you've

asked -- answered this before.

A I've answered that gquestion.

Q Yes. Okay. And when you —-- do we have filé 248?:
Okay. Actually, I think we've -- these questions have been

-~ oh, yes. Why would it take 412 days to produce
something that the supreme court .says should be made
available early?
MR. WILLIAMS: I object in that he's
assuming facts that are not in evidence, but you can’
answer if you know.
THE WITNESS: I don't know. I can't answer
that.
BY MR. BAUER:

Q ‘ Okay. We're‘geétiﬁg towards the end.. All right.
Am T correct in imagining -~- now we're going through some
truck emails. Am I imagine --—

MR. WILLIAMS: I'm sorry. You said some

what?
MR. BAUER: I'm sorry. Truck. Truck
emails. These are referring to truck.
MR. WILLIAMS: T-r-u-c-k?
MR. BAUER: T-r-u-c-k, yes, believe it or
Bettye Anderson & Associates
Whmag:“&hon Beaufort, South Carolina )
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Q So it mattered how soon? Is that your opinion,

that I should have done it in June, not August?

A No.

Q Okay.

A You could have aone it any time you wanfed to,
Mr. Bauer.

Q  Any time I wanted? So August‘3rd would have been
okay? Why -~ I just am wondering why I didn't receive a

response from Ms. Lopatka ——

A I can't answer that question.
.Q . -— even if it was August 3rd. Okay. Now, are we
going to -- all right. Here is the background for my next

question to you. This was a question to Ms. McAden at the
deposition on December 16th, 2014: Do you have surveillance
cameras in the gym?_ Her answer was no. What if there are
10 e~mails to and. from Ms. McAden stating that she was
aware.of the cameras and -- the cameras in the gym?
MR. WILLIAMS: To the extent you're asking
her about Ms. McAden énd what Ms. McAden knew —-
MR. BAUER: Yes.
MR. WILLIAMS: -- then I would object to her
ability to answer on Ms. McAden's behalf.
(WHEREUPON, a document was marked as
Defendant's Exhibit Number 28 for Identification to

the Walton Deposition.)

Bettye Anderson & Associates
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Cross by Bauer (843)525-0791 (800)543-5506 Page 494 of 587
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BY MS. FAWLEY:

Q If you will now turn to Complainant's Exhibit 26,
and I believe this is another email on that same day, April
28th, 'as the prior two. What is this? '

A And I'd also like to point out, on the previous
exhibit, the time on that is 8:24 p.m. on the 28th. This
is 8:31 the same day -- so, essentiaily, seven minutes
later —— from Mr. Bauer to me, telling me he doesn't wish
to be insubordinate,.but he wanted his attorney to
accompany him and that he would be contacting his attorney.

Q And did he say anything about showing up the nex;
day, or what did he ask?

A He asked us to reschedule.

Q if you will turn to Complainant's Exhibit 27}
what is this document?

A This is én thé same day, essenﬁially, 17 minutes
later, and it's an email from myself fo Mr. Bauer,
identifying —- again, reminding him Qf the meeting tomorrow .
at 9:00, and I'll direct Ms. Walton to send him an email in
writing on what we were planning to meet on, and fhat I
expected him to follow the directives within the letter,
within the time identified, and failure to follow through
with the written directives, I would consider that an act

of insubordination.

Q Please turn to Complainant's Exhibit 28, and what
Bettye Anderson & Associates
‘Witness: Moss Beaufort, South Carolina
Direct by Fawley (843)525-0791 (800)543-5506 Page 509 of 587
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what we do. That's a violation of confidentiality.’
I also identify .again that we are following
HRS-16. I also talk about his delay. Any rumors —-- I

truly believe any rumors that may be out there are his

doing. He could have easily followed through with the

directive and brought closure to this much quickly (sic),
but he decided not to follow through with any of the
directives from administration. I let him know what HRS-16
says and states so that, if there is again any
misunderstanding, he has another copy of what it is we're
asking him to do.

This is May 28tH, and this has been going on now
for months, and there is still no movement on Mr. Bauer's
part to follow through on the directive.

Q Please identify Complainant's Exhibit 36 for the
Board.

A This is the same day, just a few minutes later,
saying he did not understand. We do not speak to
employees, which is the sentence invwhich I said that there
were some words missing. So he's asking for clarifiéation,
whiéh I clarify very shortly.

Q And is that in Complainant's Exhibit 377

A It is. .I wrote back to him very quickly that
what it was to say is, we do not speak about employees. So

a word there was missed out of my typing.

Bettye Anderson & Associates
Witness: Moss Beaufort, South Carolina
Direct by Fawley ) (843)525:0791 (800)543-5506 Page 515 of 587
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25th, 2014. I sent you a.directive to attend"?
As that leads to insubordination, yes, that is --

Okay.

b o

Insubordination‘is a charge.

Q All right. I just wanted to be clear on that.

So we'fe look -- what you're saying is two charges. Is
that -- am I —--

A Two charges;

Q Thank you. Now, originally, did you state in

that email that the negligence was based on the pool event?

A No, I did -- the negligence, yes, was based —-
Q on ——
A Not on the pool event. The pool event triggered

you being placed on administrative leave.

Q I see. Then —--

A And that -- that was —— that began February 5th.
The negligence was a compilation of what I had found out

during the investigation.

Q I see. In that May 25th email --

A May 29th?

Q Oor 29th. Sorry. You stated that, "You left a
special needs student unattended off campus. This is

characterized as negligence and insubordination?"
A No, what I said was, "Your leave began —-- your

administrative leave began on February 5th for leaving a

Bettye Anderson & Associates
‘Witness: Moss Beaufort, South Carolina
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CHAIRMAN EVANS: Would you instruct him
again what page you're on?
BY MR. BAUER: _
Page 93, line 5 through 9.
Do you want me to read it?

Yes, please.

L o B S o]

"He refused to meet Qith me oﬁ one occasion, on
any ‘occasion. He would not meet with me, as superintendent
of the schools. I have never in my 30-plus years had a
teacher refuse to meet with me."

Q Thank you. So does it say that he refused to
meet with you, as superintendent of schools?

A No, in that context, meeting with me is meeting
with Eeaufort County School District. What I said, as
superintendent, that in my 30 years, I've never had a
teacher refuse to meet with me.

Q Did you say that you would provide emails,
referring to this quote?

A I've provided everything requested.

Q You did? So you proﬁided emails —— am I correct
in stating that you provided emails showing wheré you asked
Mr. Bauer to meet with you as superintendent of educétion?

A What I'm saying is, I've provided everything, to
my knowledge, requested.

Q Please read page 39 of your deposition, line 21;

Bettye Anderson & Associates
‘Witness: Moss Beaufort, South Carolina
Cross by Bauer (843)525-0791 (800)543-5506 Page 543 of 587
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Q Yes.

A ~- no idea what the attorneys told you.

Q vDid you call Mr. Bauer and speak to him on the
phone?

A I don't recall if I spoke to Mr. Bauer on the

phone. I know I spoke to Mr. McMasters (sic) on the phone

one time.

Q Concerhing Mr. Bauer's termination on June 5th,
did you say -- I'm going to -— I'm going to rephrase this.
I have a question first. Did you say —— did you reach a

conclusion to terminate Mr. Bauer because he refused to
meet with you, or was that the culminating event —-- the
refusal to meet with you, was that the culminating event to
the termination?

A The termination was embedded in two actions,
neglect of duty and insubordination.

Q Okay. Was there a written report based on the
February 5th pool event, a written investigation report?

A I don't recall receiviné a written investigation
report because there was never a dispute as to whether or
not Mr. Bauer left the student. Mr. Bauer véluntarily
admitted leaving the student.

Q Ié there a Beaufort County School District swim
policy regarding protocol in monitoring procedures?

A I'11 be happy.to look at a document if you'd like

Bettye Anderson & Associates

Witness: Moss Beaufort, South Carolina

Cross by Bauer (843)525-0791 (800)543-5506 Page 545 of 587
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Mr. Chairman —-

CHAIRMAN EVANS: Let me just clarify that I
only say that beéause this is not a product of Dr.
Moss's —-

V MR. BAUER: I see. _

CHAIRMAN EVANS: -- nor was it sent to Dr.
Moss, you know, or that he respondedvto any of this.
So I think it's appropriate under your testimony, but
I don't know how Dr. Moss would have any knowledge of
any of this. -

BY MR. BAUER:
6] Dr. Moss, is'it{tfué that only the'téacher.can 

ask for a hearing delay?

A Are you referring to a dismissal hearing?
Q Yes, sir. Yes.
A A dismissal hearing can be requested by the

employee or the agent of the employee, who typically is an

attorney.
Q If your —- if your attorneys copied that
information to you -- okay. Strike. Will you please refer

to file 2297

A - Again the big book?

Q Volume 2, I believe. I'm’sorry; Strike that.
We don't need to go to 229. Okay. It only —— Dr. Moss, if
only the teacher can -- all right. I'm going to strike
Bettye Anderson & Associates
‘Witness: Moss Beaufort, South Carolina
Cross by Bauer (843)525-0791  (800)543-5506 : Page 555 of 587
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MR. JOHN BAUER: No.

MR. BAUER: - week, or what?

MR. JOHN BAUER: She's talking about new
testimony. You're not testifying.

MR. BAUER: Oh, I uﬁderstand. Then strike that.
Okay.

MR. DUFF: Well, first of all _—

MR. BAUER: I misunderstood.

MR. DUFF: -- do the parties agree on what

~portions of Mr. Bauer's notebooks have been entered? Does

the court reporter having a listing -of that, because I —-

MR. JOHN BAUER: I can give him a list.

MR. BAUER: Yes, I do have a list. Yes. Sorry.

MS. FAWLEY: Mr. Chairman, the exhibits that we
did not —- in éther words, Mr. Bauer presented to every
witness certain exhibits. You've heard us request that a
particular exhibit or exhibits be removed. Those were
done. The court reporter has on the recofd the very few
exhibits that we did not object to. Everything else, we
object to, because there is no foundation, no testimony, to
introduce those documents onto the record.

MR. BAUER: That's agreeable.

MR. DUFF: As long as the transcript will
indicate cleariy what you describe as the relatively few

pages or filed files that were entered into the -- without

Bettye Anderson & Associates
Beaufort, South Carolina
(843)525-0791 (800)543-5506 Page 564 of 587
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‘documents. So that -- Mr. Bauer, that's going to be the
evidentiary record in this case.

MR. BAUER: I undérstand.

MR. DUFF: Okay.

CHAIRMAN EVANS: And to follow up to Ms. Fawley,
as we went through all three of these.books, whether it was
your Book or Mr. —— I marked documents that were either
entered into evidence by you all on direct or by Mr. Bauer
on cross, so I hope you accept that as a record of what's
come in, because there afe literally, I think, dozens of
documents in here, particularly in Mr. Bauer's booklets,
that were not introduced, and just in my simple way of
categorizing, I mean, I circled documents that were
discussed and —-

MS. FAWLEY: We're comfortable with that, Mr.
Chairman. '

CHAIRMAN EVANS: Okay. Thank you, Ms. Fawley.

MR. DUFF: And you are, too, Mr. Bauer?

MR. BAUER: Yes, sir, I am.

MR. DUFF: You're comfortable with the -— with
the Chair's, the presiding officer's, notes as to what was
admitted and what was not?

MR. BAUER: Yes, I certainly am.

MR. DUFF: Okay.

CHAIRMAN EVANS: Ms. Bush, you had a question?

Bettye Anderson & Associates
Beaufort, South Carolina
(843)525-0791 (800)543-5506 Page 566 of 587
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Number four, the fourth charge, "The date of the
meeting to discuss the results of the psychiatrist was
scheduled for April 25th, 2014. I sent you a directive to
attend.” I requésted a schedule change of a few hours to
allow a witness who was in Rock Hill on.an attorney case at
the time (sic). Ms. Walton refused.

If the Teacher Employment and Dismissal Act had
followed the lesser accusations -— I'm sorry. if the
Teacher Employment and Dismissal Act had been followed, the
lesser accusations would not have been admitted.
Complainants to, quote, give -- I'm sorry, to give, dquote,
evidence in support of the charges, unquote. Tﬁis is from
TEDA, the employment and dismissal act, 59-25-470.

Still, I had to explain that a child at an
assigned place is not hiding, and that while trying to
explain a rest wall, I was not being discourteous. I
interrupted the assistant principal not to be discourteous,
but to protect a child being yelled at. If I was this
parent's —-— this child's parent, I would hope that another
teacher, or someone, would come to his or her defense.

It was not my policy that qhildren change in the
public locker room, and the solutibn of shower curtains
seems ineffective. The children don't shower, and the

adults don't change in the shower. Administration sets

policy.
Bettye Anderson & Associates
Beaufort, South Carolina
Closing by Bauer ) (843)525-0791 (800)543-5506 Page 570 of 587
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6.1 Brown v.James Decision

LINK:
http://www.judicial.state.sc.us/opinions/

displayOpinion.cfm?caseNo=4674

‘South Carolina

JUDICIAL DEPARTMENT

4674 - Brown v. JamesP

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

Sharon Brown, Appellant,v.
William B. James, Superintendent for Cherokee County School District, Respondent.

Appeal From Cherokee County
J. Derham Cole, Circuit Court Judge

Opinion No. 4674.
Heard October 13, 2010 — Filed April 12, 2010
Withdrawn, Substituted and Refiled July 21, 2010

REVERSED AND REMANDED
Fletcher Smith, Jr., of Greenville, for Appellant.
M. Jane Turner, David Duff and Kiosha A. Hammond, ail of Columbia, for Respondent.

GEATHERS, J.: Sharon Brown (Brown) appeals the circuit court's decision granting District
Superintendent William B. James' (James) motion for summary judgment in the matter she
brought against him alleging a violation of her rights under the South Carolina Teacher
Employment and Dismissal Act (Employment and Dismissal Act).[1] Brown asserts that (1)
the circuit court abused its discretion when concluding she had not exhausted her
administrative remedies; (2) the circuit court misinterpreted the Employment and Dismissal
Act; (3) she had a legal right to appeal directly to the circuit court because the Board of
Trustees (Board) had already reached a final decision regarding the nonrenewal of her
contract; and (4) the circuit court abused its discretion when conciuding that her motion to
amend her complaint to add parties was moot. We reverse and remand.

FACTS

Brown was a teacher, assigned to Limegtone Central Elementary School (Limestone) in
Cherokee County, South Carolina, for the-2006-2007 school year. Brown had been a teacher
at Limestone for eight years before she filed this action. On.April 10, 2007, Brown was called
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to the Cherokee County School District (District) office to meet with'Mr. William A. Jones

" (Jones), Chief Administrative Officer/Director of Personnel for the District. Jones and Brown
discussed an "improvement letter” Brown had received from Limestone's Principal, Sharon
Jefferies (Jefferies), and the fact that Brown had filed a sexual harassment complaint with the
Equal Employment Opportunity Commission against Jefferies.[2] Brown informed Jones that
she had planned to file the sexual harassment complaint even before she received the
improvement letter.{3] Jones told Brown she could either go back to waork or take leave under
the Family Medical Leave Act due to the "hostile/threatening” work environment. Brown chose
to take the leave because Jones told her she would be paid until the end of her contract year,

- which was July 2007. Jones then informed Brown that he was going to recommend that her

teaching contract not be renewed and advised her to resign.

Subseguently, Brown received a letter dated April 12, 2007, from James, stating that at
Jefieries' recommendation, her contract for the upcoming year would not be renewed. Brown
retained attorney Theo W. Mitche!l (Attorney Mitchell), and within fifteen days of the April 12,
2007 notice, she submitted a written request for an opportunity to be heard under the
Employment and Dismissal Act. The Board received Brown's request on April 27, 2007.
However, on April 24, 2007, the Board took up James' April 12th "notice of intent not to
renew" letter and voted to terminate Brown's contract that same day. The Board did not inform
Brown of its decision.

Even though the Board had already made its final determination regarding Brown's contract,
the Board asked Attorney Mitchell if Brown would waive the fifteen-day requirement for
scheduling the hearing to give it an opportunity to discuss the matter. Brown agreed to the
waiver. The Board then notified Attorney Mitchell that it wanted to depose Brown before the
hearing.

Subsequently, Attarney Mitchell informed the Board that Brown would not be available for a
deposition prior to a hearing. Thereafter, on two separate occasions, the Board informed
Attorney Mitchell that if it did not receive a response from either Brown or him regarding the
scheduling of a deposition, it would consider Brown's noncooperation as a voluntary
withdrawal of her request for a hearing, and the case would be closed. Brown did not
participate in a deposition. On November 27, 2007, an attorney for the Board sent Attorney
Mitchell a letter stating, "As | have had no contact from you since September 25, 2007, the
District now considers the request [for a hearing] to be withdrawn and the matter closed.” The
Board did not schedule or give notice of a hearing. Consequently, on November 28, 2007,
Brown filed an action in the circuit court against James for violation of the Employment and
Dismissal Act.

PROCEDURAL HISTORY

Brown filed her initial complaint in. circuit court because she believed her due process rights
were violated under the Employment and Dismissal Act in that her contract was not renewed
and she was never afforded an opportunity to be heard. Specifically, in her compiaint against
James, Brown alleged breach of contract, fraud, breach of contract accompanied by a
fraudulent act, negligence and/or negligent misrepresentation, breach of duty of good faith
and fair dealing, and intentional infliction of emotional distress. In the case before us, Brown
asserts the Board made a fina! decision regarding her employment before she was afforded
an opportunity to be heard as required by the Employment and Dismissal Act. Brown also
asserts that she could not comply with the Employment and Dismissal Act's thirty-day appeal
process regarding the Board's final determination as she did not have knowledge of the
Board’s final determination until eleven months after the decision.[4] James did not file a
formal answer that addressed any of the issues Brown raised in her complaint. Instead, on
January 18, 2008, fity days after the complaint was filed and served, James filed a motion to
dismiss under Rule 12(b)(6), SCRCP, or in the alternative, a motion for summary judgment
under Rule 56, SCRCP.
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On February 13, 2008, Brown filed a motion to add the Board as a defendant. On March 7,
2008, James renewed his motion, stating only that Brown had not exhausted her
administrative remedies. During February and March 2008, Brown filed a request for
production of documents and requests to admit. During March and April, James answered the
requests. After Brown received the responses to the request for production, she sought to
amend her complaint to add the Board's attorneys as defendants predicated on their
knowledge of and involvement in what she perceived to be a fraudulent act.

On April 28, 2008, the circuit court heard Brown's motion to amend and James' motion to
dismiss. On May 5, 2008, the circuit court issued an order granting James' motion to dismiss,
{5] concluding that Brown had not exhausted her administrative remedies. The court also
concluded that based on the dismissal, Brown's motion to amend was rendered moot. On
May 12, 2008, Brown filed a motion for reconsideration, which included a request that if the
court upheld the dismissal, that it be without prejudice. On June 20, 2008, the circuit court
issued an order denying Brown's motion. This appeal followed.

ISSUE ON APPEAL

The issue presented in this case is whether the circuit court erred in granting James' motion
for summary judgment because it concluded that Brown failed to exhaust her administrative
remedies.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

When reviewing the grant of a summary judgment motion, an appellate court applies the
same standard of review as the circuit court under Rule 56, SCRCP. Wogan v. Kunze, 379
S.C. 581, 585, 666 S.E.2d 901, 903 (2008). The circuit court should grant summary judgment
"if the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admissions on file, together with
. the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the
moving party is entitied to a judgment as a matter of law.” Rule 56(c), SCRCP; Russell v,
Wachovia Bank, N.A., 353 S.C. 208, 217, 578 S.E.2d 329, 334 (2003); Knox v. Greenville
Hosp. Sys., 362 S.C. 566, 569-70, 608 S.E.2d 459, 461 (Ct. App. 2005), B.& B Liquors. inc. v.
O'Neil, 361 S.C. 267, 270, 603 S.E.2d 629, 631 (Ct. App. 2004).

LAW/ANALYSIS

1. Exhaustion of Administrative Remedies

Brown argues the circuit court erred in concluding that her claims were not properly before it
due to her failure to exhaust her exclusive statutory remedy under the Employment and
_ Dismissal Act. We agree. .

Initially, we address the applicability of the doctrine of exhaustion of administrative remedies
to local school boards. Whether under the Administrative Procedures Act (APA),[8] general
administrative taw standards, or the fundamental principles of administrative law, Brown was
required to exhaust her administrative remedies before seeking judicial review. Moreover, the
Board was also subject to the limitations and exceptions to the exhaustion doctrine.

The doctrine of exhaustion of administrative remedies requires that where a remedy before
an administrative agency is provided, relief must be sought by exhausting this remedy before
the courts will act. This doctrine is well established, is a cardinal principle of practically
universal application, and must be bome in mind by the courts in construing a statute
providing for review of administrative action.
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2 Am. Jur. 2d Administrative Law § 595 (1962) (citing Bustos-Ovaile v. Landon, 225 F.2d 878

(9th Cir. 1955); James v, Consol. Steel Corp,, 195 S.W.2d 955 (Tex. Civ. App. 1946); Bowen

. 127 P.2d 682 (Wash. 1942)) (footnotes omitted);[7] see also 2 Kenneth
Culp Davis & Richard J. Pierce, Jr., Administrative Law Treatise § 15 (3rd ed. 1994) (quoting
Myers v. Bethiehem Shipbuilding Corp., 303 U.S. 41, 50-51 (1938)) ("It is] the long-settied
rule of judicial administration that no one is entitled to judicial relief for a supposed or
threatened injury until the prescribed administrative remedy has been exhausted.").

Under the APA, section 1-23-380 specifically states, "A party who has exhausted all
administrative remedies available within the agency and who is aggrieved by a final decision
in a contested case is entitled to judicial review pursuant to this article and Article 1." Our
courts have applied the APA standards to certain local school board administrative decisions.
In Lee County hool District Board of Trustee MLD_Charte! hool Academy Planni
Committee, a case involving a local school-board's decision regarding a charter school
apptication, our Supreme Court established that the standard of judicial review was the APA
standard of review. 371 S.C. 561, 565, 641 S.E.2d 24, 26 (2007). Also, and more notably, the
Court referred to its analysis in Porter v. South Carolina Public Service Commission, 333 S.C.
12, 507 S.E.2d 328 (1998), as establishing the requirements for administrative agencies
when presenting their findings. The Court stated: "[a}ithough Porter addresses the Public
Service Commission, we find it applicable to all inistrati encies, | i

schooj boards.” Lee County Sch. Dist., 371 S.C. at 567, 641 S.E.2d at 28. (emphasis added).

Further, in McWhirer v. Cherokee County School District No. 1, 274 S.C. 66, 261 S.E.2d 1567
(1979), our Supreme Court referred to the actions of a local school board in language that
indicates that the board is held to the standards of an "agency" as defined in the APA. In
McWhirter, similar to the case at hand, an elementary school teacher sought to enjoin the
school district from terminating her under the Employment and Dismissal Act. The Court
stated:

in Law v. Richland County School District No. 1, 270 S.C. 493, 243 S.E.2d 192 (1978), we
held that if any of the charges against a teacher are supported by substantial evidence, the
school board's decision to dismiss must be sustained. We defined "substantial evidence" as
"evidence which, considering the record as a whole, would allow reasonable minds to reach
the conciusion that the administrative agency reached or must have reached in order to justify
its action." (citation omitted).

McWhirter, 274 S.C. at 68-69, 261 S.E.2d at 158 (emphasis added).

Additionally, there has also been a decision from this Court interpreting the power of the
circuit court under the APA when dealing with a local school board's discretion in teacher
terminations under the Employment and Dismissal Act. In Adamson v. Richland County
School District One, this Court stated: "S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-380(6) (Supp. 1997) [an APA
provision] gives the circuit court authority to reverse an agency decision 'made upon unlawfui
procedure’ or in excess of 'statutory authority.” 332 S.C. 121, 128, 503 S.E.2d 752, 755-56
(Ct. App. 1998) (emphasis added).

Hence, the aforementioned authorities militate the conclusion that the parties in the instant
action are subject to the exhaustion of administrative remedies doctrine of the APA. And
although the standards of the APA apply in this case, the application of the Employment and
Dismissal Act primarily informs the analysis and renders its outcome.

‘In this case, Brown received notice that her teaching contract was recommended for
nonrenewal.[8] In order to fully exhaust her administrative remedies, Brown was required to
request a hearing before the Board within the time frame:prescribed by the Employment and
Dismissal Act. Section 59-25-420 of the South Carolina Code (2004) states, "Any teacher,
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receiving a notice that he will not be reerﬁp’lbyed for the ensuing year, shall have the same
notice and opportunity for a hearing provided in subsequent sections for teachers dismissed
for cause during the school year."

In order to secure her opportunity for a hearing, Brown was required to make a written
request to the Board within fifteen days of the notice of nonrenewal pursuant to section
59-25-460 of the South Carolina Code (2004). Here, there is no dispute that Brown timely
requested a hearing after receiving the Board's April 12, 2007 notice. The analysis of this
matter is convoluted for two reasons: (1) the-Board officially voted to terminate Brown's
contract on April 24, 2007 (unbeknownst to:Brown) prior to affording her the opportunity fora.
hearing, and (2) the Board dismissed her.appeal on November 27, 2007, because she
refused to submit to a deposition. We will address each of these issues in turn.

A. Einality of an Agency A_ ction

Brown asserts that the April 24, 2007 vote by the Board constituted a final action. We agree.
The minutes of the April 24, 2007, Board meeting show a final decision regarding the
termination of Brown's contract was made even before her fifteen-day period to request a
hearing had expired.[9] On appeal, James admits a final determination regarding Brown's
contract was made on April 24, 2007, but argues that the Board accepted the
recommendation "subject to the [Employment and Dismissal] Act's procedural protections,
particufarly [Brown's] right to a Board hearing.*[10] Yet, there is no language in the
Employment and Dismissal Act that states a final decision of the Board is subjectic a
teacher's right to a hearing after the fact. ’

Our Supreme Court has expounded upon the exhaustion of_administrative remedies with

regard to an agency’s final decision. In South Carolina Baptist Hospital v. South Carolina
Department of Health & Environmental Control, the Court held:

An agency decision which does not decide the merits of a contested case . . . is nota final
agency decision subject to judicial review . . . it would be premature for a court to decide the
merits of a dispute when the agency responsible for making the decision has not yet had an
opportunity to decide the merits of the case.

291 S.C. 267, 270, 353 S.E.2d 277, 278 (1987).

In that case, the Court did not find judicial review of an interlocutory decision to be
appropriate. Id, Conversely, judicial review would have been appropriate if an evidentiary
hearing was conducted and a final decision was made regarding the merits of the case. Id.
{11] Additionally, in Canteen v. MclLeod Regional Medical Center, 384 S.C. 617,624,682 S.E.
2d 504, 507 (Ct. App. 2009), the Appellate Pane! of the Workers' Compensation Commission
reversed the findings of the single commissioner regarding a brain injury and remanded the
case for a determination of permanency to body parts other than the claimant's brain. The
claimant immediately sought judicial review and the employer filed a motion to dismiss,
arguing the Appellant Panel's decision was interlocutory because it had remanded the case
for further proceedings. Id. However, this Court held, "because the appeliate panel ruled on
{the only issue before it], there was a final agency decision on the merits in this case and [the
claimant] exhausted all of her administrative remedies.” Id.

In the case at hand, whether or not to terminate Brown was the only issue to be determined,
and when the Board unanimously voted to terminate Brown, it reached a final decision on the
merits. Section 59-25-480 of the South Carolina Code (2004) specifically states, "The
decision of the district board of trustees shall be final, unless within thirty days thereafter an
appeal is made to the court of common pleas of any county in which the major portion of such
district lies." ’ :
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.~ 6.6 Brown v James Decision

Further, when the Board voted to accept James' recommendation for the nonrenewal of
Brown's teaching contract prior to conducting a hearing, its decision had an immediate effect
on Brown'’s legal rights.{12] Sections 59-25-460 and 5£9-25-470 of the South Carolina Code
(2004) make it expressly clear that before the Board makes a final decision regarding the
acceptance or rejection of a recommendation for nonrenewal of a teacher's contract, the
teacher must be afforded the opportunity to be heard. The observance of the procedural
requirements of the Employment and Dismissal Act is mandatory and not a matter of
discretion. ’

With regard to what Board action constitutéd a final agency decision, James inaccurately
interprets the procedure outlined in section 59-25-470 and improperly conflates the
requirements of section 59-25-410 with those of section 59-25-470.{13]

Section 59-25-410 of the Employment and ‘Dismissal Act instructs the Board to decide and
notify the teachers "in their employ concerning their employment for the ensuing year.”
According to the statute, by April 15th of each year, the Board or its designee,[14] must notify
the teachers in writing of the recommendations for non-renewat. James notified Brown with
an April 12th letter of his intent not to renew her contract for the ensuing year. This satisfied
the April 15th notice requirement of section 59-25-410. Thereafter, pursuant to section
59-25-470, the Board must afford the adversely affected teachers a hearing based on the
notice of dismissal that was recommended by the superintendent. After the hearing is
completed, the Board is required to either affirm or withdraw the notice and that action will
translate into its final decision. See S.C. Code Ann. § 59-25-470 (2004); see also Adamson,
332 S.C. at 128, 503 S.E.2d at 756 (explaining the Board is free to reject the superintendent's
recommendation, and, until then, there is no final board action).

Contrary to James' argument, there are no inconsistencies or conflicts between section
59-25-410 and 59-25-470. When the Board voted unanimously on April 24th to terminate
Brown's contract, it clearly affirmed the notice of dismissal and this constituted a final
decision. Consequently, there was nothing left procedurally under the Employment and”
Dismissal Act for Brown to do except appeal to the court of common pleas pursuant to section
59-25-480. The fact that an administrative hearing was not conducted below rests with the
Board's failure to follow procedure as prescribed in the Employment and Dismissal Act, and
not in any failure of Brown to exhaust her administrative remedies. :

B. Exceptions to the Requirement of Exhaustion

Brown asserts that even if she failed to exhaust her administrative remedies before the
Board, exhaustion was not required because her case satisfied one of the exceptions to the
exhaustion requirement. We agree. ‘

South Carolina, like most jurisdictions, recognizes exceptions to the exhaustion of
administrative remedies requirement. The general rule is that administrative remedies must
be exhausted absent circumstances supporting an exception to application of the general
rute. Andrews Bearing Corp. v, Brady, 261 S.C. 533, 536, 201 S.E.2d 241, 243 (1973); Ex
parte Alistate Ins. Co,, 248 S.C. 550, 567, 151 S.E.2d 849, 855 (1966). A commonly
recognized exception to the requirement of exhaustion of administrative remedies exists
when a party demonstrates that pursuit of administrative remedies would be a vain or futile
act. Moore v, Sumter County Council, 300 S.C. 270, 273, 387 S.E.2d 455, 458 (1990); Ward
v. State, 343 S.C. 14, 19, 538 S.E.2d 245, 247 (2000}, Vi i
Dep't of Revenue, 342 S.C. 34, 39, 535 S.E.2d 642, 645 .(2000). "Futility, however, must be.
. demonstrated by a showing comparable to the administrative agency taking 'a hard and fast
position that makes an adverse ruling a certainty. Law v. $.C. Deptof Corr,, 368 S.C. 424,
438, 629 S.E.2d 642, 650 (2006) (citing 5. | ‘shi !
Urban Dev,, 907 F.2d 445, 450 (4th Cir. 1990)). Another exception to the exhaustion
requirement is recognized when an agency has acted outside of its authority. Responsible
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6.7 Brown v James Decision

Econ. Dev. v. S.C. Dep't of Health & Envtl..Control, 371 S.C. 547, 553, 641 S.E.2d 425, 428
(2007).

Brown argues.she was not required to participate in a hearing after a final determination had

already been made regarding the nonrenewal of her teaching contract, as such a pursuit
would constitute a futile act. Consequently, she asserts that she was within her legal right to
appeat directly to the circuit court. We agree.

Article 1, section 22, of the South Carolina State Constitution states:

No person shall be finally bound by a judicial or quasijudicial decision of an administrative
agency affecting private rights except on due notice and an opportunity to be heard . . . and
he shall have in all such instances the right to judicial review.

Further, section 59-25-470 states that after the hearing has taken place and the Board has
‘had the opportunity to determine "whether the evidence showed good and just cause for the
notice of suspension or dismissal," or in this case, nonrenewal of Brown's teaching contract,
the Board "shall render its decision accordingly, either affirming or withdrawing the notice of
suspension or dismissal.” In his brief, James cites this section of the Code and admits
"recommendations, when adverse to a teacher, are subject to the [Employment and
Dismissal] Act's procedural protections, particularly the right to a Board hearing pursuant to §
59-25-470."[15}

Plainly, the procedure is set in place to afford the teacher a meaningful review of the evidence
prior to the Board making a final determination, as a review of the evidence after the fact
would be futile. "The elementary and cardinal rule of statutory construction is that the Court
ascertain and effectuate the actual intent of the legisiature.” Horn v. Davis Elec, Constructors,
lac,, 307 S.C. 558, 563, 416 S.E.2d 634, 636 (1992). Where, as here, the terms are clear and
unambiguous, "the Court must apply them according to [their] literal meaning.” Anders v. S.C
Parole & Cmty, Corr. Bd., 279 S.C. 206, 208, 305 S.E.2d 229, 230 (1983).

Our research has not revealed any specific South Carolina case law addressing whether a
teacher must participate in a hearing after the Board has made a final determination
regarding the nonrenewal of her contract. However, courts in other jurisdictions have
analyzed issues similar to the case at bar. Specifically, the Indiana Court of Appeals has held:

[Tlhe notice by the school corporation to the tenure [sic] teachers was not sufficient, as it did
not comply with the statutory requirements for the dismissal of a tenure teacher and such
failure to comply with the statutory requirements did not require a tenure teacher to go forth
with the burden of requesting a hearing for cause.

, 276 N.E.2d 549, 564 {Ind. Ct. App. 1971) (finding that the
school board's action was arbitrary and capricious as it pertained to tenured teachers),
overruled on other grounds by Myers v. Greater Clark County Sch, Corp., 464 N.E.2d 1323
(Ind. Ct. App. 1984); see also Tippecanoe Valley Sch. Corp, v. Leachman, 261 N.E.2d 880,
887 (Ind. Ct. App. 1970) (holding that "evidence . . . was sufficient to sustain an implied
finding by the trial court that the procedure provided by the contract for the removal of the
plaintiff from his position as teacher was not followed and that faiture to follow it was a gross
abuse of discretion").

The statutes interpreted in the Pennsylvania case of In re Swink, 200 A. 200 (1938), are very
similar to South Carolina law in that they afford a teacher who has been notified that her
contract has been recommended for nonrenewal an opportunity to present her case to the
local school board before a final decision on termination is made.{16] In that case, the
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6.8 Brown v James Decision

Pennsylvania Superior Court held the Board of School Directors failed to comply with the
statutory requirements and reversed the board's actions, stating that the observance of the
prescribed procedure "is not a matter of discretion." |d, at 203. The court further held, "[T]he
purpose of the procedure prescribed by the act for the dismissal of a teacher . . . is to prevent
arbitrary action by the board to afford a fasr hearmg to the teacher . i

ia

’ 4 Al
produced.” Id. (emphasws added)

Simitarly, the North Dakota Supreme Coutt has held that in order for a teacher to benefit from
a hearing, she must be ailowed to present-her case in an atmosphere where even though
there exists a contemplated recomm ion:for nonrenewal, the ultimate decision of
termination has yet to be made. -viFingal Pub, Sch, Dist, #54, 218 N.W.2d 106, 110
(N.D. 1974). Furthermore, the Supreme Court of Connecticut has explained:

Naotice before termination and notice after termination are not two sides of the same coin.
Once the board has committed itself by its action to a particular result it may be too late in the
day to suggest a change of direction; at that stage the urge to proceed along its committed
course is compelfing. But before the die is cast it is still possible for persuasion to affect the
result. .

Petrovich v. New Canaan Bd. of Educ., 457 A.2d 315, 318 (Conn. 1983).”

Analogous to the cases cited above, in the present case, a hearing after the fact would have
likely proven futile. Sections 59-25-420 and 59-25-430 of the South Carolina Code (2004)
provide for a hearing prior to a final decision of the Board to avoid futility and allow for a
meaningful and fair administrative hearing. Section 1-23-380 of the South Carolina Code
(2005 & Supp. 2009) states in part, "A preliminary, procedural, or intermediate agency action
or ruling is immediately reviewable if review of the final agency decision would not prov«de an
adequate remedy."” |d., see also Jean Hoefer Toal, et al., I

49 (2d ed. 2002).

Brown did all that was required of her under the Employment and Dismissal Act.
Consequently, as a matter of law, Brown was entitled to have her case proceed before the
circuit court, and the granting of James' motion for summary judgment was improper.

C. Procedures for Compelling Pagticipation in_a_Depasition

Brown argues the circuit court incorrectly concluded that because she did not participate in a
deposition as requested by the Board, she essentially abandoned her right to a hearmg and
the Board was justified in dismissing her case. We agree.

James argues Brown was required to participate in a deposition prior to a hearing and uses
section 59-25-490 of the South Carolina Code (2004) to support his position. Section
58-25-490, in pertinent part, states, "Any party to such proceedings may cause to be taken
the depositions of witnesses . . . ." (emphasis added).

However, the'Employment and Dismissal Act does not authorize the Board to dismiss actions
for lack of participation in a deposition. Instead, it outiines the procedure the Board should
have taken. Specifically, the pertinent portion of section 59-25-490 states:

Such deposmons shall be taken mmomgncs_mlh_and_subjﬁgt_to_me_smne_mm )
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6.9 Brown v James Decisioh:

_ opposite party, the taking and transcribing of testimony, the transmission and certification
thereof and matters of practice relating thereto shali apply.

(emphasis added).

Here, when the Board did not receive any response from Brown or her attomney regarding her
participation in the requested deposition, it should have served Brown with a subpoena in an
effort to compel her attendance at a deposition pursuant to section 59-25-500 of the South
Carolina Code (2004). Moreover, the Board could have moved before the circuit court to
enforce such a subpoena under section 59-25-520.

The record does not indicate, nor was it asserted at oral argument, that the Board issued a
subpoena or that one was served on Brown in an effort to compel her attendance at the
requested deposition. Further, the record does not indicate that Brown was ever served with
notice of the deposition or notice of a hearing before the Board. Section 59-25-520 of the
Employment and Dismissal Act does not vest the Board with authority to dismiss Brown's
request for a hearing based on her nonparticipation in a deposition;[17] rather, it prescribes
procedural mechanisms including seeking sanctions from the circuit court to compel
participation in a deposition. However, the Board did not avail itself of this; instead, it
presupposed to dismiss her case, which is not sanctioned under South Carolina law.

Il. Dismissal of the Motion to Amend

Brown argues the circuit court abused its discretion when it dismissed her motion to amend
her complaint to add parties on the grounds that her motion was moot in light of the fact that
the court granted James' motion for summary judgment. We agree.

Rule 15(a), SCRCP, states in part, “[A} party may amend his pleading only by leave of court
or by written consent of the adverse party; and leave shall be freely given when justice so
requires and does not prejudice any other party.” Rule 15(c), SCRCP, further states,
"Whenever the claim or defense asserted in the amended pleading arose out of the conduct,
transaction or occurrence set forth or attempted to be set forth in the original pleadings, the
amendment relates back to the date of the original pleading."

"It is well established that a motion to amend is addressed to the sound discretion of the trial
judge, and that the party opposing the motion has the burden of establishing prejudice.” City

is:Davis, 360 S.C. 225, 232, 599 S.E.2d 462, 465 (Ct. App. 2004).
"Courts have wide latitude in amending pleadings and ‘[wlhile this power should not be used
indiscriminately or to prejudice or surprise another party, the decision to allow an amendment
is within the sound discretion of the trial court and will rarely be disturbed on appeal.” Berry v.
Mcleod, 328 S.C. 435, 450, 492 S.E.2d 794, 792 (Ct. App. 1997). "The trial judge's finding
will not be overturned without an abuse of discretion or unless manifest injustice has
occurred.” Id. -

Here, Brown attempted to add the Board's attorneys as defendants based on responses she
received from discovery requests. Brown asserted the alleged improper conduct of the
attorneys arose out of the same transaction or occurrence set forth in her original pleading.
Because the circuit court erred in concluding that Brown had not exhausted her administrative
remedies and in granting James' motion for summary judgment, Brown's motion to amend her
complaint should have been considered. We, however, do not address the merits of her
motion to amend her complaint and we remand the issue of whether Brown should be
allowed to amend her complaint to the circuit court.

. Autométic Renewal of Contract
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6.10 Brown v James Decision

Brown contends that because the Board did not recommend the nonrenewal of her contract
before the April 15th deadline, her termination was illegal and hér contract was automatically
renewed. James argues the Board complied with the Employment and Dismissal Act's April
15th deadline as prescribed in section 59-25-410 of the South Carolina Code (2004) in that
Brown received a letter on Aprit 12, 2007, notifying her of his intention to recommend
nonrenewal of her contract to the Board. Brown did not raise the issue of automatic renewal
to the circuit court; thus, this issue is not preserved for our review. Staubes v. City of Folly
Beach, 339 S.C. 406, 412, 592 S.E.2d 543, 546 (2000).

CONCLUSION

The wording of the Employment and Dismissal! Act is unambiguous regarding procedure, and
the record fails to show the Board complied with its requirements. As a result, the circuit court
erred in concluding Brown did not exhaust her administrative remedies. The circuit court also
erred in interpreting the Employment and Dismissal Act, as Brown was not required to request
a hearing of the Board after a final decision had been made regarding the nonrenewal of her
contract; and, as a matter of law, Brown was entitled to appeal directly to the circuit court.
Accordingly, the circuit court erred when it granted James' motion for summary judgment and
when it concluded that Brown's motion to amend her complaint to add parties was moot.

Based on the foregoing, the circuit court's order is
REVERSED AND REMANDED.

SHORT and WILLIAMS, JJ., concur.

[1] S.C. Code Ann. §§ 59-25-410 to -530 (2004).

[21 The record does not explain what an irhprovement letter is, but it can be inferred that itis a
letter outlining a plan to improve the teacher's performance. Section 59-25-440 of the South
Carolina Code (2004) states:

Whenever a superior, principal, where applicable, or supervisor charged with the supervision
of a teacher finds it necessary to admonish a teacher for a reason that he believes may lead

to, or be cited as a reason for, dismissal or cause the teacher not to be reemployed he shail:

(1) bring the matter in writing to the attention of the teacher invoived and make a reasonable

effort to assist the teacher to correct whatever appears to be the cause of potential dismissal
or failure to be reemployed and, (2) except as provided in section 5925450, allow reasonable
time for improvement.

[3] Brown's initial pro se complaint and her sworn affidavit make reference to her EEOC
complaint, which she filed based on claims of sexual harassment, racial discrimination, and
retaliation.

[4] The Board never sent Brown a formal notification of its final decision regarding her
termination. She became aware of the date of the final decision through the Board's discovery
responses to the case before the circuit court.

{B] James filed a motion to dismiss the complaint pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6), SCRCP, or, in the
alternative, a motion for summary judgment pursuant to Rule 56, SCRCP. Under Rule 12(b)
(6), SCRCP, a defendant may move to dismiss a complaint based on a failure to state facts
sufficient to constitute a cause of action. Spence v. Spence, 368 S.C. 106, 116, 628 S.E.2d
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6.11 Brown v James Decision

869, 874 (2006). in considering such a motion, the trial court must base its ruling solely on
allegations set forth in the complaint. id. In:the order granting the dismissal, the circuit court
considered "the record in this case, the applicable law, and the argument of counsel and
Brown." In doing so, it effectively treated James' Rule 12(b)(6) motion to dismiss as a Rule 56
motion for summary judgment as it based its ruling on allegations and information set forth
outside the complaint. Baird v. Charleston County, 333 S.C. 519, 527, 511 S.E.2d 69, 73
(1999); Gilbert v, Miller, 356 S.C. 25, 27, 586 S.E.2d 861, 862-63 (Ct. App. 2003).

[6] S.C. Code Ann. §§ 1-23-310 to -400 (2005 & Supp. 2009).

{Z] Although the current version of 2 Am. Jur. 2d Administrative Law does not include the:
quotation, the cases cited for its propositions are still binding.

[8] The notice did not inform Brown of the cause for the nonrenewal of her contract, as
required by sections 59-25-420 and 59-25-460 of the South Carolina Code (2004).

[9] The Agenda for the April 24, 2007 Cherokee County School District No. 1, Board of
Trustees, Board Meeting is replete with separate and distinct categories that address
personnel recommendations; however, the reference to the nonrenewal of Brown's confract is
titled "Terminations.”

[10] James makes these assertions on pages 8 and 9 of the Final Reply Brief of Respondent.

[11] In Darby v, Cisneros, 509 U.S.137, 144 (1993), the United States Supreme Court heid
that "the finality requirement is concerned with whether the initial agency decision maker has
arrived at a definitive position on the issue that inflicts an actual, concrete injury ... ."
Additionally, in Idaho Watersheds Project v. Hahn, 307 F.3d 815, 825-28 (9th Cir. 2002), the
Ninth Circuit held that under certain circumstances, an agency's initial decision can be
considered final for exhaustion purposes. Specifically, when an agency has completed the
process for reaching an initiat decision that has immediate legal effects on the petitioner, the
initial decision will be considered a final decision, even though the initial decision-maker may
reconsider its decision or the initial decision is subject to review within the agency.

[12] During oral argument, the Court stated, "Her [Brown's] contract was terminated on the
24th," to which counsel! for James interjected, . . . effective on June 7th." Consequentty, in
order for there to be an effective date of termination, there had to have been a decision to
terminate Brown in the first place.

[13]"All rules of statutory construction are subservient to the one that legislative intent must
prevail if it can be reasonably discovered in the ianguage used, and that language must be
construed in the light of the intended purpose of the statute." Georgia-Carolina Bail Bonds

iken, 354 S.C. 18, 23, 579 S.E.2d 334, 336 (Ct. App. 2003). "It is well
settied that statutes dealing with the same subject matter are in pari materia and must be
construed together, if possible, to produce a single, harmonious result.” Joiner ex rel. Rivas v.
Rivas, 342 S.C. 102, 109, 536 S.E.2d 372, 375 (2000).

[14] In this case, the Board's designee was Cherokee County Superintendant James.
[15] James makes this assertion on page 9 of the Final Reply Brief of Respondent.

"[16] See 24 P.S. § 1121 (1937) and note, and §§ 1126, 1161, 1201, and 1202 (1937).
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6.12 Brown v James Decision -

[17] James contends that the Board did not dismiss Brown's request for a hearing for a tack of
. participation in a deposition. However, in the November 27, 2007 letter to Brown's then
attorney, Theo W. Mitchell, James' attorney states: .

| am writing to follow up on my letter to you dated October 25, 2007, in which | informed you
that it is our position that because Ms. Brown is unable or unwilling to appear for-a deposition,
she has withdrawn her request for a hearing regarding her non-renewal. . . As | have had no
contact from you since September 25, 2007, the District now considers the request to be
withdrawn and the matter closed. ’

© 2000-2014 South Carolina Judidial Department
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7.1 TEDA |

Teacher Employment and Dismissal Ac
| TEDA 430 to 480 ‘

SECTION 59-25-430. Dismissal of teachers; grounds; opportunity for hearing;
suspension pending resolution of charges. '

Any teacher may be dismissed at any time who shall fail, or who may be
incompetent, to give instruction in accordance with the directions of the
superintendent, or who shall otherwise manifest an evident unfitness for
teaching; provided, however, that notice and an opportunity shall be afforded
for a hearing prior to any dismissal. Evident unfitness for teaching is
manifested by conduct such as, but not limited to, the following: persistent
neglect of duty, willful violation of rules and regulations of district board of
trustees, drunkenness, conviction of a violation of the law of this State or the
United States, gross immorality, dishonesty, illegal use, sale or possession of
drugs or narcotics.

Notwithstanding the provisions of Section 59-25-450, when any teacher is
charged with a violation of the law of this State or the United States which
upon conviction may lead to, or be cited as a reason for, dismissal, such
teacher may be suspended pending resolution of the charges and receive his
usual compensation during the suspension period, such compensation not to
exceed the term of his teaching contract. If the teacher is convicted, including
pleading guilty or nolo contendere to the charges, he may then be subject to
dismissal proceedings. If no conviction results, his suspension shall be
terminated.

HISTORY: 1962 Code Section 21-363, 1974 (58) 2343; 1976 Act No. 634,
Section 2.

SECTION 59-25-440. Written notice to teacher of possible dismissal; school
administrator required to make reasonable effort to assist teacher in corrective
measures; reasonable time for improvement required.

Whenever a superior, principal, where applicable, or supervisor charged with
the supervision of a teacher finds it necessary to admonish a teacher for a
reason that he believes may lead to, or be cited as a reason for, dismissal or
cause the teacher not to be reemployed he shall: (1) bring the matter in
writing to the attention of the teacher involved and make a reasonable effort to
assist the teacher to correct whatever appears to be the cause of potential
dismissal or failure to be reemployed and, (2) except as provided in Section
59-25-450, allow reasonable time for improvement.

HISTORY: 1962 Code Section 21-364; 1974 (58)' 2343; 1976 Act No. 634,
Section 3. :
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SECTION 59-25-450. Suspension of teachers; reinstatement.

Whenever a superintendent has reason to believe that cause exists for the
dismissal of a teacher and when he is of the opinion-that the immediate
suspension of the teacher is necessary to protect the well-being of the
children of the district or is necessary to remove substantial and material
disruptive influences in the educational process, in the best interest of the
children in the district, the superinteéndent may suspend the teacher without
notice or without a hearing. The superintendent shall notify the teacher in
writing of the suspension. Such written notice shall include the cause for

_ suspension and the fact that a hearing before the board is available to the
teacher upon request provided such request is made in writing within fifteen
days as prescribed by Section 59-25-470. -

The salary of a suspended teacher shall cease as of the date the board
sustains the suspension. If sufficient grounds for suspension are not
subsequently found, the teacher shall be reinstated without loss of
compensation.

HISTORY: 1962 Code Section 21-365; 1974 (58) 2343; 1976 Act No. 634,
Section 4. '

SECTION 59-25-460. Notice of dismissal; conduct of hearing.

No teacher shall be dismissed unless written notice specifying the cause of
dismissal is first given the teacher by the District Board of Trustees and an
opportunity for a hearing has been afforded the teacher. Such written notice
shall include the fact that a hearing before the board is available to the
teacher upon request provided, such request is made in writing within fifteen-
days as prescribed by Section 59-25-470. Any such hearing shall be public
unless the teacher requests in writing that it be private. The District Board of
Trustees may issue subpoenas requiring the attendance of witnesses at any
hearing and, at the request of the teacher against whom a charge is made,
shall issue such subpoenas, but it may limit the number of witnesses to be
subpoenaed in behalf of the teacher to not more than ten. All testimony at any

“hearing shall be taken under oath. Any member of the board may administer
oaths to witnesses. The board shall cause a record of the proceedings to be
kept and shall employ a competent reporter to take stenographic or stenotype
notes of all of the testimony. If the board's decision is favorable to the teacher,
the board shall pay the cost of the reporter's attendance and services at the
hearing. If the decision is unfavorable to the teacher, one-half of the cost of
the reporter's attendance and services shall be borne by the teacher. Either
party desiring a transcript of the hearing shall pay for the costs thereof.

HISTORY: 1962 Code Section 21-366; 1974 (58) 2343; 1976 Act No. 634,
Section 5.
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SECTION 59-25-470. Request for hearing; time and place of hearing; rights of
teacher; determination by board.

Within fifteen days after receipt of notice of suspension or dismissal, a teacher
may serve upon the chairman of the board or the superintendent a written
request for a hearing before the board. If the teacher fails to make such a
request, or after a hearing as herein provided for, the District Board of
Trustees shall take such action and shall enter such order as it deems lawful
and appropriate. The hearing shall be held by the board not less than ten nor
more than fifteen days after the request is served, and a notice of the time
and place of the hearing shall be given the teacher not less than five days
prior to the date of the hearing. The teacher has the privilege of being present
at the hearing with counsel and of cross-examining.witnesses and may offer
evidence and witnesses and present any and all defenses to the charges. The
board shall order the appearance of any witness requested by the teacher.
The complainants shall initiate the introduction of evidence in substantiation ‘of
the charges. Within ten days following the hearing, the board shall determine
whether the evidence showed good and just cause for the notice of
suspension or dismissal and shall render its decision accordingly, either
affirming or withdrawing the notice of suspension or dismissal.

HISTORY: 1962 Code Section 21—367; 1974 (58) 2343; 1976 Act No. 634,
Section 6.

SECTION 59-25-480. Appeais; costs and damages.

The decision of the district board of trustees shall be final, unless within thirty
days thereafter an appeal is made to the court of common pleas of any county
in which the major portion of such district lies.

Notice of the appeal and the grounds thereof shall be fited with the district
board of trustees. The district board shall, within thirty days thereatfter, file a
certified copy of the transcript record with the clerk of such court. Any appeal
from the order of the circuit court shall be taken in the manner provided by the
South Carolina Appellate Court Rules. if the decision of the board is reversed
on appeal, on a motion of either party the trial court shali order reinstatement
and shall determine the amount for which the board shal! be liable for actual
damages and court costs. In no event shall any liability extend beyond two
years from the effective date of dismissal. Amounts earned or amounts
earnable with reasonable diligence by the person wrongfully suspended shall
be deducted from any back pay.

HISTORY: 1962 Code Section 21-368; 1974 (58) 2343; 1999 Act No. 55,
Section 54.
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brloogle
Alden Bauer <aldenbauer706 @gmail.com>

Jeffrey C. Moss, Ed.D., Complainant v. John Alden Bauer, lil, Respondent
1 message

Dave Duff <dduff@dwtlawfirm.com> Wed, Apr-22, 2015 at 12:32 PM To: Alden Bauer
<aldenbauer706@gmail.com>
Cc: Shirley Fawley <sfawley@childs-halligan.net>, "Vernie L. Williams" <vwilliams@childs-halligan.net>

Mr. Bauer:

The basic procedure is as follows. Please understand that this is a basic, most usual overview of what happens.
There could be some variation to what I am describing.

First, each side, starting with the administration, followed by you, will be permitted to make an opening statement
to the Board, outlining its position in the case. Ay preliminary objections to the process or anticipated evidence
could also be made at that time. (Objections also can be made or renewed during the hearing itself to particular
examination questions or offers of proof.) After the opening statements, the complainant, i.e., the administration,
presents its case first, calling the witnesses it has listed in whatever order it wishes. Each witness presented by the

" administration is subject to being cross examined by you. There also can be re-direct examination by the
presenting party. After the administration rests its case, you present your case. Since, as | recall, you listed the very
same persons as witnesses as did the administration, you should be prepared to ask ALL your questions of each of
witnesses during your cross examination of each witness when they are presented by the administration. Normally,
witnesses are not recalled in the respondent’s case, unless there is a compelling reason to do so for a limited
purpose. There also is the matter of your failure to list yourself as a witness. I don’t know what the
administration’s position on your testifying is. Probably, I would advise the Board that you should be permitted to
testify even though you did not list yourself. On the assumption that you testify, after being sworn to tell the truth
like all witnesses are, you will simply give a narrative without anyone asking you questions. However, after your
narrative, you will be subject to cross examination questioning by the attorneys for the administration. After you
rest your case, there may be a limited opportunity for rebuttal by the administration, but presumably it would only
be in rebuttal to something you said if you testify.

After all the evidence is presented, each side is permitted to offer a brief summation or closing argument to the
Board. After those closings, the Board will deliberate in executive session for however long is necessary. The

Board will then vote in public session to render its decision.

The hearing will be in the multi-media room at the District’s central office, 2900 Mink Point Blvd., Beaufort. I am
sure there will be facilities or means to secure the evidence notebooks.
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11.3 Bauer email 4/22/15. not on witness list

From: Alden Bauer [mailto:aldenbauer706@gmai!.com]
Sent: Wednesday, April 22, 2015 7:51 AM

To: Dave Duff
* Subject: procedures

Mr. Duft
By procedure | mean the formuta.

What comes first?
What comes second?
What comes third?

etc.

Also, what order are the witnesses to be?

Exact location.

Is there a place to store the notebooks?

There are 9 notebooks—two inch thick volumes each.

How do I call myself as a witness? Do | ask myself questions? Ordo  do a
solo narrative? .

Are there other procedures that | may not know about?

etc. efc.
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STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA IN THE COURT OF COMMON PLEAS

COUNTY OF BEAUFORT FOURTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT
C.A. No.: 2015-CP-07-1343

John Alden Bauer III
Appellant ]
MOTION TO COMPEL
FORENSIC ANALYSIS
VIDEO FEBRUARY 35, 2014
V.

Beaufort County School District
Respondent

}

Appellant asserts that recorded video from the surveillance cameras at Hilton Head
Island Elementary and the Island Recreation Center between 10 AM and 1:30 PM on
Wednesday, February 5, 2014, will exonerate or would have exonerated the Appellant.

Appellant is informed and believes that this withheld evidence had a damaging
negative influence on the decision of district officials to continue the Appellant’s paid
administrative leave indefinitely.

Appellant is informed and believes that the withholding of this evidence in the school
board hearing had a damaging negative influence on the school board members
deliberation and ultimate decision.

PARTIES AND JURISDXCTION

Appellant, John Alden Bauer 111, complaining of the Defendant Beaufort County
School District, would respectfully show unto the court: :

Appellant is a resident of Beaufort County, South Carolina and was employed by
Defendant Beaufort County School District (“District”) as a physical education
teacher at Hilton Head Island Elementary (“HHIE”)
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12.2 Motion to Compel. Video Evideng_q-;

Respondent the school district in the County of Beaufort, in the state of South
Carolina. Hilton Head Island Elementary is located within the District.

The events giving rise to the following causes of action occurred in Beaufort County,
and jurisdiction is proper.
BACKGR! N ATI
11. Plaintiff is a veteran,17 year physical education teacher (12.4 years at HHIE)
12. Plaintiff had a Continuing Contract. (Similar to tenure)

13. Plaintiff has a Bachelor of Science (cum laude) in Business Administration with a
focus in Marketing and Management from the University of South Carolina
(1987).

14. Plaintiff has a Master of Arts in Teaching-Physical Education (cum laude) from
the University of South Carolina(1996). .

15. Plaintiff is a National Board Certified Teacher (2003), one of the highest
achievements in the field of education.

16. Plaintiff received positive evaluations throughout his career as a physical
education teacher.

1. On Wednesday, February 5, 2014, Plaintiff took a 5th grade class of 23 students
across the street to the Island Recreation Center for swim classes and returned

with 23 students at the end of class.

2. The Island Recreation Center grounds are 22 yards from the campus grounds of

Hilton Head Island Elementary. (See Exhibit)
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10.

12.3 Motion to Compel. Video Evidence

During the course of the class, a male, a Gifted and Talented studenf member in
this class, arrived late to school and snuck over into his assigned swim group,
taught by certified swim instructor Jesse, an employee of the Island Recreation
Center. |

The Sth grade regular classroom teacher had not taken attendance or submitted an
attendance report. (See Exhibit)

At the clonclus>ion of the class session period, the student in question stayed
behind, apparently hiding in the dressing room of the Island Recreaﬁon Center.

He returned to school 25 minutes later with an Island Recreation Center

employee.

" Plaintiff was accused of negligence for leaving a student in the dressing room and

Was placed on paid administrative leave.
Video surveillance cameras are located throughout the Hilton Head Island
Elementary school campus as well as the Island Recreation Center. Cameras are
located indoors and outdoors.
Principal Jill McAden of Hilton Head Island Elemenitary said at her deposition on
Tuesday, December 16, 2014, that there were no video surveillance cameras.
On Wednesday, May 21, 2014, attorney George McMaster, of Tompkins and
McMaster, LLP in Columbia, SC sent a Litigation Hold Letter to the Beaufort
County School District stating that all documentations and recordings of ény

nature, electronic or otherwise be preserved.
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12.4 Motion to Compel. Video Evidence

11. On Thursday, June 26, 2014, the law firm of Child and Halligan, representing
the Beaufort County School District, sent a letter to attorney George McMaster
stating that the administrative staff had taken all the necessary steps to preserve

data on district own computers and other electronic devices.

“We checked with the administration and have been assured that the staff has
. taken appropriate steps to preserve the data on district owned computers and other
electronic devices at the district level and at Hilton Head Island Elementary School,

which are applicable to the matter involving your client.” (See attached)

12. On Thursday, September 17, 2015, Appellani’s attorney Lauren Martel, of the
Martel Law Firm in Hilton Head lsland_, SC requested information on video
surveillance cameras at Hilton Head Island Elementary, from David Emesl, IT
Project Manager, of the Beaufort County School District. There was no response.

13. On Wednesday, October 7, 2015, Appellant requested information on video

surveillance cameras at Hilton Head Island Elementary, to_Jennifer Staten. Risk
| Management Coo'rdinator, of the Beaufort County School District. No response.
14. On Thursday, Qctober 22,2015, Appellant requested information on video
surveillance camerés at Hilton Head Island Elementary, fro.m David Gg'sham,
Protective Services Coordinator at the Beaufort County School District. Grissom

refused to provide information
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12.5 Motion to Compel. Video Evidence -

.>< 15. As of Friday, February 19, 2016, the Beaufort County School District has not

!

provided Appellant any preserved video camera surveillance nor any other

information.

Appellant prays that judgment will compel the Defendant to a computer forensic

. analysis of any recorded video camera surveillance of Wednesday, February 5, 2014,

from 12 pm-1:30PM

I state under penalty of perjury that the above is correct and truthful.

Respectfully Submitted,

February 19, 2015

%_w W, L i

John Alden Bauer il

5 Gumtree Road

E-11

Hilton Head Island, SC 29926
(843) 384-1506
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- 15.1 Short Proposed Final Order Portion (Corrections to

. proposed Duff Order)
STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA IN THE COURT OF COMMON
PLEAS
COUNTY OF BEAUFORT FOURTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT
C.A. No.: 2015-CP-07-1343
John Alden Bauer 111 SHORT PROPOSED
' FINAL ORDER PORTION
Appellant

Beaufort County School District
Respondent

The formal opening and ending would be the same as in mv Long
Qrder

This matter came before the Court for a hearing on Friday, March 4, 2016. The
Appellant, John Alden Bauer, Ili, (“Bauer”) appeared pro se.!'The Respondent,

Beautort County School District,

ETC.

! Although Bauer appeared pro se at the hearing before the Court on March 4, at times prior to the hearing before the
School Board and during the initial stage of this appeal, Bauer was represented by counsel.
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15.2 Short Proposed Final Order Portion {Corrections to proposed Duff Order)

Findings

Disputed Action

June 5, 2014. Board Minutes

“Out of executive session the board made a motion to approve the superintendent s
recommendation to terminate the employment of Employee A. Approved”

Case law is clear
“Yet, there is no language in the Employment and Dismissal Act that states a final
decision of the Board is subject to a teacher's right to a hearing after the fact.” Brown

v. James

“The observance of the procedural reijziifements of the Employment and Dismissal
Act is mandatory and not a matter of discretion.” Brown v. James

The Action of the Board constituted a violation of Due process.

In the Board Order the subject of delay of the hearing is broached. The statute
requires a hearing within 15 days of an appeal; in this case 5 Vmonths after the accused
event. Even if the district had offered evidence as to why the hearing was not held in
the prescribed time frame, which it did not, there was no excuse for delaying the

hearing an additional 10 months.

This section from Washington-Middieton vs. Charleston County is clear. Case No.
13-CP-10-7094

“The district has argued that the lateness of the hearing was harmless. This argument
ignores the reality of ...a teacher in limbo.... Additionally this argument ignores the
mandatory nature of TEDA, acknowledged by the Supreme Couit in Johnson vs
Spartanburg County School District Number Seven 314 S.C. 340 444 SE 2D 501
(1994) and the court of appeals in Brown.”
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15.3 Short Proposed Final Order Portion (Corrections to proposed Duff Order)

The letter of the Act must be followed.

The Board Order is vague on the subject of charges and the District never
offered a

Notice of Charges. The Record offers only confusion. Accordingly, the Appellant
defended against four presumed charges, assumed to be c;ontained in one email, plus
* other accusations. But there were only two charges. Those two charges were not
revealed until the third dasr of the hearing. Additional accusa:tions are invalid,
according to TEDA 470, in which Complainants are to ad@ress the charges.

There is no excuse to have a hearing without understandable formal charges.

SECTION 59-25-460. Notice of dismissal; conduct of hearing.

“No teacher shall be dismissed unless written notice specifying the cause of dismissal
is first given the teacher by the District Board of Trustees and an opportunity for a
hearing has been afforded the teacher. ™

The Record shows that the District gave no evidence that the Board stated a

“cause” for dismissal, nor did it offer a hearing before the dismissal. This constitutes a

violation of Due Process.

The accusation against appellant refers to one “student” in one incident. The

Onrder refers to “students™. The exhibit cited by the district (Walton testimony, Compl.
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15.4 Short Proposed Final Order Portion (Corrections to proposed Duff Order)

Supp. Exh. 3.) is a letter from Alice Walton, February 7, 2014, but she contradicts the

District. { “negligent actions with a student”, singular.)

It is clear in 59-25-430 negligence must be a “pattern of neglect”.l One student in
one debatable incident does not constitute a pattern of neglect, especially with a

veteran teacher.

Again the District failed to follow the intent and letter of the act, a violation of

Due Process.

The Board Order states “ReadingSection 59-25-460 together with 59-25-450,
it is clear that the notice of the cause for dismissal should not come from the
Board but rather from the Superintendent.”

‘ This court disagrees. Section 59-25-450 (TEDA) deals with suspension,
59-25-460 deals with dismissal.

TEDA 450:

“the superintendent may suspend the teacher without notice or without a.hearing.”

TEDA 460 statés:

“No teacher shall be dismissed unless wrilten notice specifying the cal;se of dismissal
is first given the teacher by the District Board of Trustees and an opportunity for a
hearing has been afforded the teacher.”

The Board failed to specify the “cause™ and failed to give the opportunity for a

hearing before dismissal as defined in Brown. The hearing in April to May of 2015
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15.5 Short Proposed Final Order Portion (Corrections to proposed Duff Order)

was “gfter the Jact”, again as defined by Brown, and constituted a violation of Due
Process.

The Board Order raises the issue of the psychiatrist.vThe Order claims that
Bauer aid not meet the deadline of March 31, 2014, to complete the process. The
evaluation is dated April 28, therefore, Bauer met his responsibility for the deadline.
Communication issues stemming from the District are not relevant.

In addition the Order complaiﬁs that the evaluation is “general”. Anything other
than general would have been a violation of law. The Digtrict was also obligated to
document the reason for the examinéﬁon, which it failed to do. The District cited
HRS-16 as giving it authority to require an examination. The HRS-16 section on a
Return from Sick Leave was an inappropriate authorization since the appellant was on
Administrative Leave.

The mis-handling of this issue by the Distri<.:t was a violation of Law (see

below) and of Due process.

The U.S. Equal Employment Opportunity Commission

. “The ADA's requirements.... apply to all of the employees of a covered
employer, whether or not they have disabilities.”

. “Any inquiries or examination, however, must be limited in scope to
what is needed to determine whether the employee is able to work”.

. “If an employer decides to make that referral, the basis—-why the
organization feels the exam is needed -- must be documented.”
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' 15.6 Short Proposed Final Order Portion (Corrections to proposed Duff Order)

Finally the District submitted no evidence of complying with the requirements
of Section 59-25-440 regarding the Professional Improvement Plan--a violation of
Due Process.

The Beaufort County School District failed in its responsibility and this case is

reversed.
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16. Grade Book. False
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7: 24. Alice Walton (Human Resources) letter 2/7/14. “Student” is singular.

SEES

* Elavamtaey Sekend 57
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' 25. Dr. Rosenbaum-Bloom evaluation 3/28/14 .

Hain Sroee

Psychiate

P
e

ychothem py

Laura Rosenbaum-Bloom. MD, B.C.
Child, Adotrseens & Aduls Fyyelsiary
Boant Centified in Prphiarry

March 28,2014

Re: john Bauer

To whom it concerns:

1 saw John Bauer on March 28, 2014, We discussed his current situation and reviewed his job
description. He takes his job very seriously and is very conscientious. His role as a Physical Education
Instructor means the world to him and he values each student.

it is my medical opinion that John Bauer is indeed capable of performing the essential functions of his
job and return to all of his duties as soon 3s possible.

Please do not hesitate to contact me on this matter if you require further assistance.

Best regards,

NN

Laura Rosenbaum-Bioom, MD
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27. Alice Walton General Job Description 3/25/14 (Human Resources)..

Gmail - Medical Request ' Page 1 of 2

GE’ o ’ ’ John Bauer <jabpe23@gmail.com>

Medical Request ’ -
2 messages .

Waiton, Alice W <Alice Walton@beaufort. k12 sc.us> Tue, Mar 25,2014 at 8:12 AM
To: “John Bauer (iabpe23@gmail.com)” <jabpe23@gmail.com> '

Alden,

X i-am requesting that you provide your physidan-a copy of your job description {attached) and that your doctor
review it and submit a written statement to me on ar befare March 31, 2014, indicating whether she believes you
are presently capable of perforing the essential functions of your position, with or without reasonable
accommodations.

1f you have any questions, please don‘t hesitate to calt,

Regards,

Alice W. Walton

Chief Administrative and Human Officer ’ o .
Beaufort County Schoot District )
843-322-2419 | Office
543-812-8374 | Mobile

IMPORTANT: The contents of this email end any are . They are inte) for the
named recipient(s} only. .

If you have received this.email in error, please notify the system ar the sender i fi and
o not disclose the contents to anyone or make copies thereof,

*** Barracuda Networks scanned this email for viruses, and malici b

73 PE Job Description pdf R
E; 73K .

https://mail. google.com/mail/b/14 l/u/O/?ui=2&ik=40c56ad969&view=pl&q=Alice, Walten... 2/27/2015
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. December 10,1013 "

' 'bé‘é’f' A"l'den;. :
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-31.1 George McMaster 5/21/14. Litigation Hold letter to preserve evidence

TOMPEINS AND MCMASTER, ip
ATTORNEYS AND COUNSELORS AT LAW
1701 RICULARD STRERT (0201

PoST OFriom Box 7297
COLUMRAIA, SOUTH CAROLINA 20203
I
JOUN OREQO MeMABTER TRLEFIONE: (B373) 7004400 ,K,: 41050
ORONOE HUNTER MCMASTER ** THLEFAX: (B0 £52-20.40 s,
FRANK BARNWELL A0MASTER SETTLTMMLA L OOM - ?m:n:u -
1
Buzastrm Buomoow
ESTARLISHED 1908~ 18943075
+*ALoo AvsrTTEe s TR
May 21, 2014
Via Courier

Ms Alice Walton

Chief Administrative and Human Resources Officer
2900 Mink Point Blvd |

Beaufort, South Carolina 29902

RE: John Alden Bauer
Dear Ms. Walion
This Firm represents John Alden Bauer.

We have been involved in this matter for some time so | am fully aware of those
efforts to create a file and a cause, as one does not exist, for the termination of Mr.
Bauer, ’

This letter is to serve notice, as this matter should now be considered an issue
arising related to pending or threatened fiigation, and that all documentation or
recordings of any nature, as set out herein below, should be preserved by the you, your
office and those persons at the Hilton Head island Elementary School or any other
person with whom there has been any communication referring or relating to Mr. Bauer

.. jefadvise, specifically, and put you on notice as to the preservation of, inter alia,
all_gdia, electronic data, including an not limited to archived electronic mail,
_Bgtumentation, wherever found, including but not limited to:

a. Personal computers or those provided by the Beaufort County School
District or Hilton Head Island Elementary School, servers, social media,
storage media, laptops or personal data assistants: such as PatmPilot,
Blackberry, or other Windows CE-based or Pocket PC devices or
mobile phones, in whatever form (word processing documents, e-mail,
text messages and voice mail);

b. that, further, all such date should be preserved, and not deieted or
destroyed, or should any attemptbe made to destroy or delete any part
of that data above described and, further, that those persons in your
office or at the Hilton Head Island Elementary Schoo!, should maintain
those devices, as applicable to this matter, which shall be regularly
charged and, further, cease the regular use and rotation or reuse of
those devices as described above untif alt relevant data can be copied
from that form of storage available in the device now used by the you,

FAHOMEVGHM\Fomistprescivation tridestniction fetier. 2 doc
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" 31.2 George McMaster 5/21/14. Litigation Hold letter to preserve evidence

T OMPEINS AND MCMASTER, Lip

your office, or the Hilton Head Island Elementary School, and, further,
you are to preserve a complete and verified copy of the files on back-up
tape, via printouts or pictures of texts of all electronic data as described
above. : ’

t remain,

Cc; -

John Alden Bauer

Via Courier

Jeffery C. Moss, Superintendent
Ms. Jill McAden, Principal

FAHOMEGHM{Formstprestrvation fildestraiciion iétier.2.do
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THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM BEAUFORT COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Marvin H. Dukes III, Master in Equity and Speéial Circuit Court Judge

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2016-000955

John Alden Bauer, III Appellant

v
Beaufort County ‘ Respondént
School District

CERTIFICATE OF RECORD ON APPEAL

The undersigned hereby certifies that the Record on Appeal contains all material
proposed to be included by the Appellant and not any other material.

November 23, 2016

%W@ml’

John @lden Bauer, III, pro se - 4 E

109 Ashton Hill Drive ' R CEI VED

Columbia, South Carolina, SC 29229 NUV 23

(843) 384-1506 Se o 216
Ot of Appegs
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